Studies in Labour Markets



January 2009

The Economic Effects of Increasing British Columbia's Minimum Wage

by Keith Godin and Niels Veldhuis















January 2009

The Economic Effects of Increasing British Columbia's Minimum Wage

by Keith Godin and Niels Veldhuis

Contents

```
Executive summary 3
Introduction % 6
I. Defining and measuring minimum wages 🛛 🦷 7
II. Profile of minimum wage earners in British Columbia 🛛 🖉 12
III. Economic effects of increasing minimum wages 🛛 🕷 15
IV. Employment effects of increasing BC's minimum wage
to $10 per hour 🚿 29
Conclusion # 38
Appendix A: Profile of workers earning $10 per hour or less
in British Columbia and Canada 🛛 🖉 40
References # 44
About the authors % 52
Acknowledgments % 53
About this publication % 54
Supporting the Fraser Institute 🚿 55
About the Fraser Institute 🚿 56
Editorial Advisory Board # 57
```

Executive summary

Minimum wages have long been the subject of considerable attention and debate. The controversy surrounding minimum wages arises from the tension between well-intentioned efforts to increase incomes for lower-income workers and the significant negative economic costs associated with increasing minimum wages. This controversy is also fuelled by a general misunderstanding of what kinds of workers actually earn the minimum wage.

The purpose of this study is to provide British Columbians, and indeed all Canadians, with an up-to-date account of these realities and other economic costs of the minimum wage. The study also aims to empirically assess the employment losses associated with increasing the minimum wage in British Columbia. Together, these analyses will help inform the public and policy makers about the impacts of increasing minimum wages.

Minimum wage earners in British Columbia

Minimum wage laws establish the lowest level of hourly pay that employers must pay workers. British Columbia's general minimum wage rate is currently \$8.00 per hour, the 5th highest among the Canadian provinces. However, BC has one of the highest minimum wage rates relative to average earnings (37.8%) when compared with those in all 10 Canadian provinces and 50 US states (7th highest out of 60).

In British Columbia, 62,600 workers earned the minimum wage in 2007, representing 3.4% of total employment. The majority of individuals earning the minimum wage were young workers between the ages of 15 and 24 (55.9%), most of whom (86.6%) were living at home with family. More than half of these young workers were also attending school. Many of the remaining individuals earning minimum wages were adults supplementing their family income with part-time work during child-rearing years or after retirement. In general, the typical minimum wage worker in British Columbia—and across Canada—is someone who is young and living at home. As such, minimum wage increases would mainly affect younger workers, and would have a negligible effect on adults, generally, and those supporting families, specifically.

The economic effects of increasing minimum wages

A large body of research from Canada and around the world demonstrates convincingly that high minimum wages lead to lower employment levels. A recent, comprehensive study by renowned minimum wage experts University of California Professor David Neumark and US Federal Reserve Board economist Dr. William Wascher (Neumark and Wascher, 2007a) reviewed over 100 studies covering 20 countries over the past 15 years and found that the "overwhelming majority" of studies, especially the most credible, consistently show that minimum wage increases result in decreases in employment.

There have also been numerous studies that specifically examine the extent to which high minimum wages affect employment in Canada. This study examines 14 Canadian studies that focus on how minimum wage changes affect the employment of young workers (those between the ages of 15 and 24 years old). The Canadian studies span almost 30 years and can be organized into two groups: (1) 12 studies that examine the impact of increasing the minimum wage on large groups of people who typically earn the minimum wage (i.e., teens and young adults); and, (2) three studies that examine the employment effects on workers who are most directly affected, that is, workers earning a wage that falls in between the old minimum wage and the new minimum wage after a policy change. [1] The results are striking. The first group of studies report employment effects ranging from -0.3 to -0.6, meaning that a 10% increase in the minimum wage will likely decrease employment among those who typically earn minimum wage by 3% to 6%. The second group of studies report employment effects ranging from about -0.45 to -2.0, meaning that a 10% increase in the minimum wage will decrease employment among this smaller, more directly affected group of workers by 4.5% to 20%.

Furthermore, research shows that higher minimum wages have other negative effects including fewer benefits and less training for workers. Higher minimum wages can also have the unfortunate effect of inducing high school students to drop out and search for employment. Fewer employment opportunities and less education and training are particularly harmful, given that experience and skill development are important drivers of higher wages. All these negative effects support the conclusion that high minimum wages have no appreciable effect on alleviating poverty.

¹ One study, Campolieti et al. (2006), examines both approaches and thus is counted in both groups.

The employment effects of increasing BC's minimum wage to \$10

This study estimates the employment loss associated with increasing British Columbia's minimum wage to \$10 per hour, a level advocated by numerous union and activist groups. Specifically, estimates of the employment effects from existing Canadian studies are used to estimate the loss in employment for teens and youths. As noted above, Canadian research finds that the employment effect for those workers directly affected range from -0.45 to -2.0, meaning a 10% increase in the minimum wage would likely decrease employment by 4.5 to 20.0%. Increasing British Columbia's minimum wage from \$8 to \$10 per hour represents a 25% increase for those earning the minimum wage and an average increase of 12.5% for workers earning between \$8 and \$10 per hour. Therefore, the average wage increase for all 158,800 young BC workers either earning the current minimum wage or earning between \$8 and \$10 per hour is 15.3%. This 15.3% increase in the minimum wage would be associated with a 6.9% to 30.5% loss in employment for teens and youths directly affected, equal to a loss of 10,898 to 48,434 jobs for these workers.

The employment effect for all teen and youth workers ranges from -0.3 to -0.6, meaning that a 10% increase in the minimum wage would decrease employment by 3.0% to 6.0%. Using estimates of the employment effect described above, a 25.0% increase in the minimum wage would be associated with a 7.5% to 15.0% loss in employment for teens and youths, equal to a loss of about 25,100 to 52,200 jobs. Thus, the overall range of employment loss expected from increasing British Columbia's minimum wage to \$10 per hour is 10,898 to 52,200 jobs.

The bottom line is that while increasing the minimum wage to \$10 per hour may be well intentioned, it will have a profound negative effect on those currently earning the minimum wage, and will have almost no effect on those in greatest need. If the government wishes to raise the incomes of and improve economic opportunities for British Columbia's working poor, it would be wise to steer clear of increasing the minimum wage.

Introduction

British Columbia has a long history with minimum wage legislation. Along with Manitoba, British Columbia was the first province in Canada to introduce minimum wage laws in 1918 (McCallum, 1986). Since then, changes to minimum wages have been the subject of considerable attention and debate. The controversy surrounding minimum wages arises from the tension between well-intentioned efforts to increase the incomes of lower-income workers and the significant negative economic costs associated with increasing minimum wages. This controversy is also fuelled by a general misunderstanding of what kinds of workers actually earn the minimum wage.

The purpose of this study is to provide British Columbians, and indeed all Canadians, with an up-to-date account of these realities and other economic costs of the minimum wage. The study also aims to empirically assess the employment losses associated with increasing the minimum wage in British Columbia. Together, these analyses will help inform the public and policy makers about the impacts of increasing minimum wages.

Organization

The first section defines minimum wages and compares British Columbia's minimum wage to those in other Canadian provinces and US states. Section II examines the number, age, and living situation of minimum wage workers in British Columbia. Section III examines the economic effects of higher minimum wages on employment, on-the-job training, education decisions, and poverty. The fourth section provides an estimate of the employment loss associated with increasing the minimum wage in British Columbia, based on existing scholarly research. The final section summarizes this study's findings and offers some conclusions.

I. Defining and measuring minimum wages

Minimum wage laws establish the lowest level of hourly pay that employers must pay workers. This wage rate, which is set by a government body (i.e., the Ministry of Labour and Citizens' Services in British Columbia), tends to be increased periodically. [2]

There are two main ways of comparing minimum wages across jurisdictions. The first and most common way is comparing statutory rates—the hourly rate established by government. The other way is to compare minimum wage income relative to average earnings within a jurisdiction. This study uses both measures to compare minimum wages in British Columbia with those in the other nine Canadian provinces and 50 US states.

Statutory minimum wage rates

Table 1 shows the general minimum wage rates for British Columbia and the other Canadian provinces for 2008. British Columbia has the 5th highest minimum wage in Canada at \$8.00 per hour. Ontario has the highest minimum wage at \$8.56, followed closely by Saskatchewan at \$8.48 and Manitoba at \$8.38. [3] Neighbouring Alberta has a minimum wage rate of \$8.30 per hour while New Brunswick has the lowest minimum wage rate in Canada at \$7.63 per hour. [4]

- 2 While minimum wage rates are broadly designed to create a base level of pay for all workers, there are exemptions for certain types of workers and/or minimum wage rates for certain sectors. For example, British Columbia has a rather large minimum wage exemption for inexperienced workers. New entrants to the labour force can be paid \$6.00 per hour up until they have worked 500 hours, after which they have to be paid the general minimum wage (\$8.00 per hour). British Columbia also has specific minimum wage rates for live-in home support workers and resident caretakers of apartment buildings, as well as piece rates for harvesting certain crops. For details, see British Columbia (2008).
- 3 Note that these rates are pro-rated averages of the legislated minimum wage rates during 2008. Ontario, for example, changed its minimum wage from \$8.00 to \$8.75 on March 31, 2008, resulting in an average rate of \$8.56 for 2008 (see notes in table 1 for details).
- 4 Four provinces have scheduled increases in their minimum wages in 2009: Newfoundland & Labrador will increase its minimum wage to \$8.50 on January 1 and again to \$9.00 on July 1; Nova Scotia will increase its minimum wage to \$8.60 on April 1; Ontario will increase its minimum wage to \$9.50 on March 31; and, Saskatchewan will increase its minimum wage to \$9.25 on May 1 (Human Resources and Social Development Canada, 2008).

	Minimum wage (per hour)
New Brunswick	\$7.63
Prince Edward Island	\$7.73
Newfoundland & Labrador	\$7.88
Nova Scotia	\$7.93
British Columbia	\$8.00
Alberta	\$8.30
Quebec	\$8.33
Manitoba	\$8.38
Saskatchewan	\$8.48
Ontario	\$8.56

Table 1: Statutory minimum wage rates in Canada, 2008

Notes:

1 Alberta's minimum wage rate changed from \$8.00 to \$8.40 as of April 1, 2008; the minimum wage presented is a pro-rated average.

2 Manitoba's minimum wage rate changed from \$8.00 to \$8.50 as of April 1, 2008; the minimum wage presented is a pro-rated average.

3 New Brunswick's minimum wage rate changed from \$7.25 to \$7.75 as of March 31, 2008; the minimum wage presented is a pro-rated average.

4 Newfoundland & Labrador's minimum wage rate changed from \$7.50 to \$8.00 as of April 1, 2008; the minimum wage presented is a pro-rated average.

5 Nova Scotia's minimum wage rate changed from \$7.60 to \$8.10 as of May 1, 2008; the minimum wage presented is a pro-rated average.

6 Ontario's minimum wage rate changed from \$8.00 to \$8.75 as of March 31, 2008; the minimum wage rate presented is a pro-rated average.

7 Prince Edward Island's minimum wage rate changed from \$7.50 to \$7.75 as of May 1, 2008, and changed to \$8.00 as of October 1, 2008; the minimum wage presented is a pro-rated average.

8 Quebec's minimum wage rate changed from \$8.00 to \$8.50 as of May 1, 2008; the minimum wage presented is a pro-rated average.

9 Saskatchewan's minimum wage rate changed from \$8.25 to \$8.60 as of May 1, 2008; the minimum wage rate presented is a pro-rated average.

Source: Human Resources and Social Development Canada, 2008; calculations by authors.

By comparison, in the United States, the federal minimum wage effective July 24, 2008, is US\$6.55 per hour. Prior to the July increase, the federal minimum wage rate was \$5.85 per hour, resulting in an average rate of \$6.16 for 2008. [5] The US federal minimum wage rate will be increased again on July 24, 2009, to \$7.25. The US federal minimum wage covers workers who are

⁵ International comparisons need to be used with caution as there are significant differences in how other countries legislate minimum wages. For example, some countries (like Canada) let subnational jurisdictions set minimum wages while others legislate national minimum wages.

employed by government agencies or by firms with at least \$500,000 revenue and/or are engaged in interstate commerce. [6] However, states are free to set a higher minimum wage, which typically applies to the same group of workers covered under federal law. [7] As of July 24, 2008, there were 14 states [8] with the same minimum wage as the federal government; 24 states [9] with a minimum wage higher than the federal level (Washington, at \$8.07 per hour, and California and Massachusetts, at \$8.00 per hour, have the highest minimum wages); and seven states [10] with minimum wages below the federal level (ranging from \$2.65 in Kansas to \$6.50 in New Mexico and Wisconsin). The remaining five states [11] have no minimum wage laws. In these states, the federal minimum applies to workers who are covered under the federal legislation.

Minimum wage as a percentage of per-worker wages and salaries

An important element is missed when minimum wages are compared only in terms of statutory rates. In order to measure how high minimum wages are in the context of each jurisdiction's ability to pay minimum wages, the income generated by earning the minimum wage needs to be compared to average earnings. Minimum wage as a percentage of average earnings can be obtained by calculating the annual income earned by someone working full-time for minimum wage as a ratio of average annual wages and salaries (i.e., earnings) per worker.

Figure 1 shows minimum wages as a percentage of wages and salaries per worker for the 10 Canadian provinces and 50 US states for 2007. British Columbia's minimum wage as a percentage of earnings per worker was relatively high (37.8%), making BC 54th out of the 10 Canadian provinces and 50 US states, the vast majority of which had lower minimum wages. British Columbia's minimum wage was about 50% larger than that in neighbouring Alberta (25.1%), and was similar to wages in New Brunswick (38.5%)

⁶ The US Department of Labor estimates that the federal minimum wage covered approximately 130 million workers in 2007 (United States Department of Labor, 2007).

⁷ See United States Department of Labor (2008) for a detailed breakdown of worker coverage by state.

⁸ Idaho, Indiana, Kentucky, Maryland, Montana, Nebraska, New Hampshire, North Carolina, North Dakota, Oklahoma, South Dakota, Texas, Utah, and Virginia.

⁹ Alaska, Arizona, California, Colorado, Connecticut, Delaware, Florida, Hawaii, Illinois, Iowa, Maine, Massachusetts, Michigan, Missouri, Nevada, New Jersey, New York, Ohio, Oregon, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, Vermont, Washington, and West Virginia,

¹⁰ Arkansas, Georgia, Kansas, Minnesota, New Mexico, Wisconsin, and Wyoming.

¹¹ Alabama, Louisiana, Mississippi, South Carolina, and Tennessee.



Figure 1: Minimum wages as a percentage of per-worker wages and salaries, 2007

Note: Data for wages in the United States are available up to 2006; data for 2007 were estimated by applying an average growth rate of wages and salaries from 2004 to 2006 to 2006 data.

Sources: Human Resources and Social Development Canada, 2008; Statistics Canada, 2008c; US Department of Labor, 2008; US Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2008; calculations by authors.

and Nova Scotia (39.4%) (figure 1). [12] Put differently, a resident of British Columbia earning the minimum wage could earn about two fifths of the average per-worker earnings of the province. A resident earning minimum wage in Alberta, on the other hand, could earn about one quarter of the province's average per-worker earnings.

Conclusion

British Columbia maintains one of the highest minimum wage rates in Canada and the United States. In 2008, British Columbia's statutory minimum wage rate was \$8.00 per hour, the fifth highest in Canada. British Columbia's minimum wage as a percentage of earnings per worker for 2007 was 37.8%, making BC 54th out of the 10 Canadian provinces and 50 US states, the vast majority of which had lower minimum wages.

¹² British Columbia's minimum wage is also high relative to average wages and salaries over the last few years. When a sensitivity analysis was completed using a three-year average (2005-2007) and a five-year average (2003-2007), the overall rankings were similar to rankings for 2007, and British Columbia ranked 56th and 59th, respectively.

II. Profile of minimum wage earners in British Columbia

To analyze the impact of minimum wage increases, it is critical to understand who earns the minimum wage. This section presents the number, age, and living situation of minimum wage earners in British Columbia.

Number and age distribution of minimum wage workers

Table 2 presents the number of workers earning minimum wage by age in British Columbia in 2007. Overall, there were 62,600 workers earning the minimum wage in British Columbia in 2007, representing 3.4% of total employment. This means that the overwhelming majority of workers in British Columbia earn more than the minimum wage.

The highest percentages of minimum wage workers were found among the two youngest age groups. In 2007, 18.8% of workers aged 15 to 19 and 4.6% of workers aged 20 to 24 worked for minimum wage. In comparison, only 2.3% of those aged 25 to 34 earned minimum wage; 1.5% of those aged 35 to 44; 1.4% of those aged 45 to 54; and 2.5% of those over 55. Statistics Canada reports that the higher incidence of minimum wage workers among seniors "reflects some of the low-wage occupations in which working seniors tend to be concentrated" (2006: 14). [13]

Put differently, 40.3% (25,200) of minimum wage earners were between the ages of 15 to 19. Another 15.7% (9,800) were aged 20 to 24. Combined, young workers (those aged 15 to 24) represented 55.9% of all British Columbians earning the minimum wage.

British Columbia's age distribution of minimum wage earners was similar to the national average in 2007 (see Appendix A for a more detailed breakdown of the ages of minimum wage earners across Canada). Across Canada, 45.2% of minimum wage earners are between the ages of 15 to 19, while another 17.2% are aged 20 to 24. Combined, 62.4% of minimum wage earners across Canada are between the ages 15 to 24.

¹³ These include retail salespersons and clerks; general office clerks; janitors, caretakers, and building superintendents; babysitters, nannies, and parent's helpers; and light-duty cleaners.

Age group	Total employment	Minimum wage earners	Percentage of workers earning minimum wage	Proportion of minimum wage earners
15-19	134,100	25,200	18.8%	40.3%
20-24	213,900	9,800	4.6%	15.7%
25-34	401,600	9,200	2.3%	14.7%
35-44	429,700	6,600	1.5%	10.5%
45-54	424,600	5,800	1.4%	9.3%
55+	237,100	6,000	2.5%	9.6%
All ages	1,841,000	62,600	3.4%	100.0%

Table 2: Number and percentage of workers earning minimum wage by age in British Columbia, 2007

Source: Statistics Canada, 2008a; calculations by authors.

Living situation of minimum wage workers

Table 3 shows the breakdown of BC workers earning minimum wage by their living situation in 2007. There are four general categories: member of a couple, single parent, child or relative living with family, and unattached individual.

Examining the proportion of minimum wage workers by living situation reveals that most of these workers live at home with their families. In 2007, 34,200, or 54.6%, of all 62,600 minimum wage workers were living at home with family. Of these workers, over half (58.2%) were aged 15 to 24 and attending school. The number of minimum wage earners living in other living situations was comparatively small. A little more than one quarter of minimum wage workers were members of a couple. Of the 17,900 who were members of a couple, 14,600 (81.6%) lived in a household with an employed spouse, most of whom earned more than the minimum wage. Deborah Sussman and Martin Tabi (2004) of Statistics Canada suggest that this may reflect the number of women who supplement family income with part-time work during child-rearing years. A further 12.5% were unattached individuals. Only 4.3% of minimum wage workers were classified as single parents.

British Columbia's proportion of minimum wage earners living at home with family is generally the same as the proportion for Canada as a whole. In 2007, 59.7% of all minimum wage earners across Canada lived at home with family (see Appendix A for a more detailed breakdown of the living situations of minimum wage earners across Canada). Of these, 56.6% were between the ages of 15 to 24 and were attending school. The distribution of minimum wage earners across other living situations was also similar: 24.4% were members of a couple, 10.9% were unattached individuals, and 5.1% were single parents.

Total employment	Workers earning minimum wage	Proportion of minimum wage earners
1,841,000	62,600	100.0%
1,014,900	17,900	28.6%
193,400	3,300	5.3%
821,500	14,600	23.3%
11,300	0	0.0%
675,000	10,800	17.3%
135,200	3,200	5.1%
117,200	2,700	4.3%
360,500	34,200	54.6%
66,600	16,900	27.0%
53,700	6,900	11.0%
32,300	3,000	4.8%
78,700	3,500	5.6%
8,200	0	0.0%
121,100	3,800	6.1%
348,500	7.800	12.5%
	Total employment 1,841,000 1,014,900 193,400 821,500 11,300 675,000 135,200 117,200 360,500 66,600 53,700 32,300 78,700 8,200 121,100 348,500	Total employment Workers earning minimum wage 1,841,000 62,600 1,014,900 17,900 193,400 3,300 821,500 14,600 11,300 0 675,000 10,800 135,200 3,200 117,200 2,700 360,500 34,200 66,600 16,900 53,700 6,900 32,300 3,000 78,700 3,500 8,200 0 121,100 3,800

Table 3: Workers earning minimum wage by family structure in British Columbia, 2007

Note: A value of zero does not necessarily mean that there are no individuals earning the minimum wage. Statistics Canada explains that some data points are reported within a margin of error for confidentiality reasons. For British Columbia, a value of zero could mean that less than 1,500 individuals are earning the minimum wage.

Source: Statistics Canada, 2008a; personal communication with Fanita Tjiong of Statistics Canada, April 18, 2008; calculations by authors.

Conclusion

In British Columbia, 62,600 workers earned the minimum wage in 2007, representing 3.4% of total employment. Of those earning the minimum wage, well over half (55.9%) were young workers between the ages of 15 and 24. Further, the majority of minimum wage workers were living at home with family; most of these workers were also attending school. In addition, many of the remaining individuals earning minimum wage were adults who were likely supplementing their family income with part-time work during child-rearing years or after retirement. In general, the typical minimum wage worker in British Columbia—and across Canada—is someone who is young and living at home.

III. Economic effects of increasing minimum wages

While the creation of minimum wages may be well intentioned, the reality is that increasing the minimum wage will have numerous adverse effects. In fact, a large and growing body of research from Canada and around the world demonstrates that high and increasing minimum wages negatively affect employment, aspects of compensation such as training and fringe benefits, and education decisions. [14] Minimum wages have also been shown to have no appreciable effect on alleviating poverty.

Impact of increases in minimum wages on employment

One of the most serious consequences of increasing minimum wages is reduced employment opportunities for less skilled and/or young workers. This occurs as employers react to higher wages and labour costs by hiring fewer workers, reducing the number of hours employees work, and relying more heavily on other inputs such as machinery and equipment to keep their businesses going. [15]

It is important to note, however, that employers generally react to higher minimum wages by offering fewer employment opportunities in the future, rather than by terminating those who are already employed (Gunderson, 2007). [16] This is because it takes workers and employers time to adjust to

15 Neumark (2006) explains that in addition to this "substitution effect," higher minimum wages can also reduce employment through a "scale effect." Higher minimum wages mean that the cost to employers of producing their good or service has increased, which translates into higher prices for consumers. Consumers, wanting fewer goods or services at the higher price, reduce their consumption. As a result, the overall "scale" or operation of the employer must be reduced, creating less of a need for workers.

Several studies report a significant lag between minimum wage increases and the resulting employment effects. That is, they find larger long-term employment elasticities than shortterm elasticities. For Canadian studies on the subject, see Baker et al. (1999), Campolieti et al. (2005b), and Campolieti et al. (2006). For US studies that find similar results, see Partridge and Partridge (1999), Burkhauser et al. (2000), and Neumark (2006).

¹⁴ This section focuses on empirical research. There is, however, a large number of theoretical studies that explain in detail how minimum wages impact the labour market. For summaries of the theoretical research, see Law (1998) and West and McKee (1980).

the new higher wages. Alternatively, employers may react by moving towards more capital-intensive methods of producing goods and services, or towards higher-skilled labour, both longer-term adjustments (Neumark, 2006).

Indeed, a large body of empirical research from Canada and around the world shows high minimum wages have a significant negative effect on the employment opportunities of those who are most likely to earn the minimum wage. [17] In this section, we will review the most important and recent studies to provide readers with an overview and to present the key conclusions found in the literature. [18]

Canadian evidence

There have been a number of studies focusing on how minimum wages have impacted employment in Canada. An important study by West and McKee (1980) was one of the first major Canadian studies to comprehensively review research on the effects of minimum wages. [19] The authors reviewed 20 empirical studies (seven of which were Canadian) and concluded, "From our survey of the empirical work, to date, we reach the strong conclusion that there is no convincing evidence to refute the prediction that minimum wages cause reductions of employment" (1980: 99).

One of the most important and recent Canadian studies was completed by University of Toronto professor Morley Gunderson for the Federal Labour Standards Review Commission. This 2005 report reviewed 23 Canadian studies on the effects of minimum wages. "Overall," Gunderson reported, "it appears that the Canadian studies tend to find adverse employment effects that are at least as large and likely larger than US studies" (2005: 44). Furthermore, Gunderson concluded that the Canadian studies, especially the

- 17 It is important to understand the method by which most researchers measure the impact on employment resulting from a change to the minimum wage. The large majority of studies measure the impact of minimum wages on employment by estimating what economists call "employment elasticity." In this case, elasticity refers to a measure of how sensitive employment is to changes in the minimum wage. More specifically, it is calculated as the proportionate change in employment divided by the proportionate change in wages caused by an increase in the minimum wage. It is commonly expressed as a percentage change and can be positive or negative. For instance, an employment elasticity of -0.5 implies that a 10% increase in the minimum wage is associated with a 5% reduction in employment.
- 18 In fact, there are hundreds of studies that analyze the effects of minimum wages. While this research has provided overwhelming empirical evidence that minimum wages have negative effects, many of the key findings are repetitive.
- 19 There were earlier Canadian studies examining the economic effects of minimum wages, but they were narrower in scope. For examples, see Cousineau (1979), Fortin (1979), Maki (1979), Swidinsky (1980), and Schaafsma and Walsh (1983).

most credible and recent, show that a 10% increase in the minimum wage leads to a 3% to 6% reduction in the employment of teenagers.

A more in-depth assessment of the Canadian research corroborates the conclusions reached by Gunderson (2005) and the earlier work by West and McKee (1980). Table 4 (pp. 18–19) summarizes the empirical results of 14 Canadian studies that focus specifically on the employment effects associated with increases in the minimum wage. [20] The studies span almost 30 years and concentrate for the most part on the employment effects for teenagers and young adults.

These 14 studies can be divided into two groups: (1) 12 studies that examine the impact of increasing the minimum wage on large groups of people who typically earn the minimum wage (i.e., teens and young adults); and, (2) three studies that examine the employment effects on workers who are most directly affected, that is, workers earning a wage that falls between the old minimum wage and the new minimum wage after a policy change. Analyzing these two groups of studies separately is important because the latter typically report much more significant employment effects.

The first group of studies examines employment effects for more general populations such as teenagers or young adults. [21] While both older and newer Canadian studies report negative employment effects, University of Toronto professor Morley Gunderson explains why there may be good reason to concentrate on more recent results: "More recent studies using different and more sophisticated methodologies as well as more recent data find larger adverse employment effects at the higher end and beyond the consensus range, especially in the longer run. The elasticities typically range from -0.3 to -0.6 for teens (slightly lower for young adults) ... [The] fact they use different data sets and methodologies suggest that these results are robust" (Gunderson, 2005: 44).

Examining the Canadian research from the past decade confirms Gunderson's conclusion. For example, Baker et al. (1999) examined the employment effects of minimum wage legislation in Canada over the period of 1975 to 1993. The authors found that despite differences across provincial labour markets, a 10% increase in the minimum wage was associated with roughly a 2.5% decrease in teen employment. In a follow-up study, Baker (2005) replicated Baker et al. (1999) using new data for 1983 to 2000. He

²⁰ Gunderson's (2005) review of 23 Canadian studies includes studies that examine other effects of the minimum wage, such as wage levels, wage distribution, relationship with natural rate of unemployment, spillover effects, and so on.

²¹ These 12 studies include Cousineau (1979), Fortin (1979), Maki (1979), Swidinsky (1980), Schaafsma and Walsh (1983), McKee and West (1984), Mercier (1985), Cousineau et al. (1992), Baker et al. (1999), Baker (2005), Campolieti et al. (2005a), and Campolieti (2006).

Table 4: Summary c	of empirical resu	ults of Canadian studies e	xamining minimum wage employment effect.
Study	Jurisdiction and years covered	Employment	Empirical results
Cousineau (1979)	Quebec; 1968-1977	Teenage employment and female employment	10% increase in minimum wage (relative to average hourly wage in manufacturing) increases unemployment rate by 2.9 percentage points for teenagers, and 1.7 percentage points for females.
Fortin (1979)	Quebec; 1978	Quebec employment	10% increase in ratio of minimum to average industry wage increases unemployment rate by: Young males (15-24): 2.5 to 3.5 percentage points Young females (15-24): 1.5 to 3.0 percentage points Adult females (25+): 0.4 to 0.7 percentage points Overall unemployment rate: 0.6 to 1.0 percentage points
Maki (1979)	Across provinces; 1970-1977	Provincial employment	10% increase in the minimum wage (relative to average wage) increases unemployment rate by 5.6%.
Swidinsky (1980)	Across provinces; 1956-1975	Teenagers (14-19)	10% increase in the minimum wage index (statutory minimum wage rate divided by average hourly earnings in manufacturing, adjusted for the proportion of the non-agricultural labour force covered by the minimum wage) decreases employment to population ratio by 1.0% for males, 2.7% for females, and 1.7% overall.
Schaafsma and Walsh (1983)	Across provinces; 1975-1979	Six categories: males and females in three age groups (15-19, 20-24, and 25+)	10% increase in the minimum wage decreases employment by: Males 15-19: 6.1% Females 15-19: 6.0% Males 20-24: 2.9% Females 20-24: 1.8% Males 25+: 1.5% Females 25+: 0.6%
McKee and West (1984)	Across provinces; 1975-1981	Total working population, males and females in eight provinces (NL and PEI excluded because of small sample size)	10% increase in the minimum wage decreases the ratio of part-time to full-time employment for 12 of the 16 gender/province groups. The most statistically significant results revealed that a 10% increase in the minimum wage decreases the ratio of part-time to full-time employment by 2.96% to 14.86%.
Mercier (1985)	Quebec; 1966-1981	Four age/sex categories: males 14-19; males 20-24; females 14- 19; females 20-24	10% increase in the minimum wage decreases employment to population ratio by: Males (14)15-19: 0.05% to 0.234% Males 20-24: 0% to 0.1% Females (14)15-19: 0.1% to 0.28% Females 20-24: 0% to 0.18%

Fraser Institute 🕷 www.fraserinstitute.org

10% increase in ratio of minimum wage to average wage increases unemployment rat by 1.53 percentage points for youth (16-24), and 1.40 percentage points for females. A 13 percentage point increase in the ratio of minimum wage to average industrial wage (a policy proposal at time of study) would result in an employment loss of 43,00 jobs for women and 18,000 jobs for youth in Ontario.	10% increase in the minimum wage decreases employment to population ratio by 2.4 to 4.4%.	10% increase in the minimum wage (relative to average wage) decreases employment l Permanent low-wage teen workers: 8.3% Permanent low-wage young adult workers: 11.9% Campolieti et al. (2005a) calculated the elasticity for the teenage low-wage group (i.e. those affected) to be -1.5, meaning that a 10% increase in the minimum wage would decrease employment in this group by 15%.	10% increase in ratio of minimum wage to average wage decreases employment to population ratio by 3.23% to 5.72% for teenagers, and by 0.92% to 1.95% for young adults.	10% increase in ratio of minimum wage to average wage would be associated with a 25% reduction in the employment of teenagers—the low-wage workers most likely t be affected by minimum wage increases. 10% increase in the minimum wage decreases total employment in the study by 5%.	10% increase in the minimum wage decreases employment among youth (measured, the transition from employment to non-employment) in the low-wage group (i.e., thc directly affected) by 10% to 20%, depending on the empirical methodology. 10% increase in the minimum wage ratio decreases employment (measured as the transition from employment to non-employment) among youths by about 3.0% to 5.0%, depending on the empirical methodology.	 10% increase in minimum wage ratio decreases employment to population ratio by: Teenagers (16-19): 2.5% to 4.2% Youths (20-24): 1.4% to 2.7% Combined (16-24): 2.6% to 4.4% Combined (16-24), affected group: 4.5%
Youth (16-24) and females	Teenagers (15-19)	Teenagers (16-19) and young adults (20-24)	Teenagers (15-19) and young adults (20-24)	Teenagers (16-19)	Youths (16-24)	Teenagers (16-19), youths (20 24), and combined (16-24)
Ontario; 1968-1990	Across provinces; 1975-1993	Across provinces; 1988-1990	Across provinces; 1983-2000	Across provinces; 1993-1999	Across provinces; 1993-1999	Across provinces; 1981-1997
Cousineau et al. (1992)	Baker et al. (1999)	Yuen (2003)	Baker (2005)	Campolieti et al. (2005a)	Campolieti et al. (2005b)	Campolieti et al. (2006)

www.fraserinstitute.org 🕷 Fraser Institute

found that a 10% increase in the minimum wage decreased teen employment (those aged 15 to 19) by 4.8% to 5.7% and youth employment (those aged 20 to 24) by 1.7 to 2.0%.

Another important and recent study by Campolieti et al. (2005a), using Statistics Canada data from 1993 to 1999, examined how the 24 minimum wage changes in Canada during that period impacted youth (aged 16 to 19) education and employment outcomes. The authors estimated that a 10% increase in the minimum wage would decrease overall youth employment by 5%. In a follow-up study in 2006, Campolieti et al. found that a 10% increase in the minimum wage was associated with a 1.7% to 4.4% reduction in the employment of youth (aged 16 to 24).

The second group of studies specify employment effects for workers who are most directly affected (i.e., workers who currently earn between the old and new minimum wage). [22] A study by Yuen (2003) tracked the employment effects for a group of workers from 1988 to 1990. He specifically focused on workers aged 16 to 24 who would be "at risk" of a policy change—that is, workers whose wages fall in between the old and new minimum wage. He further subdivided this group into "permanent" workers (who account for more than three quarters of low-wage employment) and "transitory" workers (who account for less than three quarters of low-wage employment). There was virtually no effect for the transitory workers, but there was a large effect for permanent workers. Yuen found that an 8.4% increase in the minimum wage leads to a 7% decrease in teen employment and a 10% reduction for young adults. Put differently, Yuen's results indicate that a 10% increase in the minimum wage leads to an 8.3% decrease in teen employment and a 11.9% reduction for young adults. Based on these results, Campolieti et al. (2005a) calculated an implied low-wage employment effect of -1.5 for teens. This means that a 10.0% increase in the minimum wage decreases employment for this specific group by 15.0%.

Campolieti et al. (2005b) adopted a similar empirical model as Yuen (2003), examining the minimum wage employment effect for those affected (workers whose wages fall between the old and new minimum wage) and a control group (low-wage workers who did not experience a minimum wage change, but who likely would have been affected if one had occurred). Their key finding is that a 10% increase in the minimum wage would decrease employment for directly affected workers by 10% to 20%. The authors also specifically measured the effect of British Columbia's two 50-cent increases in 1994-1995. They found that the employment effects were about twice the magnitude of their main results (see section IV for a more detailed discussion

²² These studies include Yuen (2003), Campolieti et al. (2005b), and Campolieti et al. (2006).

of the employment effects associated with large and immediate minimum wage changes versus small and incremental changes).

Campolieti et al. (2006) examined 71 changes in the minimum wage across the provinces from 1981 to 1997 and found large adverse employment effects for workers who were directly affected. Specifically, they found that a 10% increase in the minimum decreased employment for young workers (aged 16 to 24) who were directly affected by 4.5%.

Overall, estimates of the employment effects range from 0% to almost 25%. However, it is important to acknowledge the difference between the employment effects that apply to specific groups of workers and employment effects that apply to employment more generally. For the former, employment effects range from about -0.45 to -2.0, meaning a 10% increase in the minimum wage could decrease employment for those workers most directly affected by 4.5% to 20.0%. For the latter group, most of the estimated employment effects range from about -0.1 to -0.6. However, similar to Gunderson (2005, 2007), a reasonable range that reflects the most up-to-date research using more sophisticated statistical techniques is a range of -0.3 to -0.6. This means that a 10% increase in the minimum wage could decrease employment for all teens and young workers by about 3% to 6%.

International evidence

A number of studies examining the impact of minimum wages have taken an international approach. An important 1998 study by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) examined the effect of increasing the minimum wage on employment in nine industrialized countries over the period of 1975 to 1996. [23] The OECD found that the impact of increasing the minimum wage on employment is mostly negative among younger cohorts. Specifically, they found that a 10% increase in the minimum wage rate reduces teenage employment by up to 3% to 6%. [24]

David Neumark and William Wascher (2004) examined the employment effects of minimum wages in 17 OECD countries over the period of 1975 to 2000. They found that a 10% increase in the minimum wage was associated with a 2.2% reduction in the employment of youth aged 15 to 24.

²³ The countries analyzed included Belgium, Canada, France, Greece, Japan, the Netherlands, Portugal, Spain, and the United States.

²⁴ The authors conducted two cross-country analyses: one including Spain and Portugal and another excluding them. The results when Spain and Portugal were included indicate that the reduction in employment ranges from 0% to 2%. However, the results were generally less statistically significant than they were for the results excluding the two countries. The authors report that Spain and Portugal were separated for part of the analysis because data were not available for constructing the relevant minimum wage ratios to compare with other countries.

A more recent study by Olalekan Edagbami came to a similar conclusion. The author conducted a review of 22 studies from around the world and concluded that "the picture that easily emerges from the wide range of evidence contemplated in this survey ... is that the minimum wage is generally harmful to teenage and, to a large extent, youth employment" (2006: 31).

In one of the most comprehensive reviews of the effects of minimum wages, renowned minimum wage experts University of California Professor David Neumark and US Federal Reserve Board economist Dr. William Wascher (Neumark and Wascher, 2007a) reviewed over 100 studies covering 20 countries over the past 15 years. The authors found that the "overwhelming majority" of studies, especially the most credible, consistently show that minimum wage increases result in decreases in employment. Specifically, the authors found that 28 of the 33 most credible studies point to negative employment effects.

There have also been a number of important studies focusing exclusively on minimum wages in the United States. Examining American studies is important given the similarities between the Canadian and US labour markets, and the fact that US-based empirical studies on minimum wages have a long history and are wide in scope. For example, a seminal study by Brown et al. (1982) reviewed 25 empirical studies on the employment effects of minimum wages in the United States. The authors found that the general consensus of the research is that a 10% increase in the minimum wage reduces employment among teenagers (aged 15 to 19) by 1% to 3%. [25] Employment rates among young adults (aged 20 to 24) also decline when minimum wages

25 It should be acknowledged there are some studies that have found no effects or even positive effects on employment; however, these are a small minority. Perhaps the most notable studies within this minority are those by economists David Card and Alan Krueger (1994, 1995). The authors studied employment in fast-food restaurants in New Jersey and Pennsylvania and found that employment actually increased in some areas after an increase in the minimum wage. However, the authors' research has been challenged on theoretical grounds, and more importantly, their empirical work has received serious criticism, calling into question the validity of their results. For example, in a review of Card and Krueger's findings, Law (1998) explained that Hammermesh (1995) found that the timing of Card and Krueger's survey approach to collecting data biased their results. In addition, Welch (1995) explained that because Card and Krueger only focused on select fast-food restaurants, they failed to measure the overall impact on employment in the region associated with the minimum wage increase. Perhaps most importantly, a study by David Neumark and William Wascher (2000) in the American Economic Review replicated Card and Krueger's study using actual payroll data and found two important results: (1) Card and Krueger's survey data suffered from a rather severe measurement error regarding employment changes; and, (2) instead of positive effects on employment, the authors found large negative employment effects for the same areas studied by Card and Krueger.

are increased, but these declines were found to be smaller than those among teenagers.

Several studies buttress Brown et al.'s findings. Burkhauser et al. (2000), using employment data from 1979 to 1997, found that a 10% increase in the minimum wage leads to a 3% to 6% reduction in teen employment. Similarly, Williams and Mills (2001), using employment data covering 1954 to 1993, found that a 10% increase in the minimum wage leads to a 3% to 5% reduction in teen employment.

A study by Vedder and Gallaway (2002) found that when the minimum wage is increased, employers react not only by reducing employment, but also by reducing the hours worked by those currently employed. Using US employment data from 1954 to 1999, the authors found that a \$1 increase in the minimum wage was associated with a decrease in hours worked of about 0.2% to 0.3%. Combining this finding with estimates of employment losses, the authors estimated that a \$1 increase in the minimum wage in 2000 would result in a total reduction in hours of about 0.7%. [26]

In his review of the American research on minimum wages, Gunderson (2007) concluded that, overall, a 10% minimum wage hike could reduce employment by 0% to 3%, and sometimes up to 6%, in the United States.

Impact of minimum wage increases on benefits and training

The adverse impact of minimum wage increases extends beyond decreases in employment. As minimum wages increase, employers often respond to higher labour costs by reducing non-wage benefits such as fringe benefits and training. Decreasing on-the-job training is particularly problematic, given that research shows that this type of skills development is an important driver of young and less skilled workers making the transition to higher wages in the future (Even and MacPherson, 2003). [27] Even if minimum wage workers are fortunate enough to keep their jobs and maintain the number of hours worked, they may still not be better off if their benefits and training are reduced.

A number of empirical studies have examined the impact of increased minimum wages on worker benefits and on-the-job training. Wessels (1980) found that increases in the minimum wage in the United States during the

²⁶ The authors also estimated that these lost hours—which would have been worked otherwise—were equal to \$12 to \$15 billion in lost income for workers.

²⁷ See Hashimoto (1981) for a more in-depth discussion of the relationship between minimum wages, on-the-job training, and earnings.

1970s resulted in reduced spending on fringe benefits. [28] Likewise, studies by Leighton and Mincer (1981) and Hashimoto (1981) both found empirical evidence that higher minimum wages reduce training provided by employers.

More recently, Neumark and Wascher (2001), using data from 1983 to 1991, found that higher minimum wages lead to less training for workers. Specifically, they found that a 10% increase in the minimum wage for workers aged 20 to 24 reduced the proportion of minimum wage workers who received on-the-job training by 2 percentage points. In addition, the authors found that formal training—e.g., paid programs and schooling—decreased more than on-the-job training.

Baker (2005) examined the effect of minimum wage increases on training in Canada. The author found some evidence that higher minimum wages had a negative effect on on-the-job training, particularly for younger workers. Specifically, he found that increasing the minimum wage by 10% decreased training by 0% to 7.3% for workers aged 17 to 24. [29]

Impact of minimum wage increases on education

High minimum wages have also been associated with higher school dropout rates. When minimum wages increase, more young people leave school in search of employment.

Landon (1997) examined minimum wages and high-school enrollment rates for six Canadian provinces over the period of 1975 to 1989 and found that higher minimum wages have a significant and negative impact on school enrollment rates, especially for young males. Specifically, Landon found that a 50-cent increase in the average minimum wage causes a 0.7 percentage point decrease in the percentage of 16- and 17-year olds enrolled in school. For Ontario in 1989, he estimated that increasing the minimum wage by 50 cents would have caused enrollment to decline by 1,761 students.

Several empirical studies focusing on the United States have buttressed Landon's results. For example, a series of studies by Neumark and Wascher (1995a, 1995b, 1996, and 2003) have shown that minimum wage hikes encourage teenage workers to leave school in search of employment. Using data

²⁸ Fringe benefits are broadly defined as a firm's non-wage expenditures on workers. More specifically, Wessels explains that these benefits "may include not only such items as life insurance and pension plans, but also items such as lower work load, steady employment, on-the-job training, and safe working conditions" (1980: 294).

²⁹ The author calculated the training effect several ways and thus reported multiple results. While he found several results indicating that higher minimum wages have a negative impact on training, these results varied considerably in size and significance. Overall, he concluded that his empirical results were mixed.

from 1980 to 1998, Neumark and Wascher found that a 10% increase in the minimum wage in US states that allow students to drop out of school before they are 18 was associated with a 2.2% decrease in teenage school enrollment (Neumark and Wascher, 2003). [30] Their results were similar when different empirical methods were used (1995a, 1995b, 1996).

Similarly, Chaplin et al. (2003), using school enrollment statistics from 1989 to 1997, found that higher minimum wages led to more students dropping out of school in search of employment. Interestingly, this effect was most pronounced among students making the transition from grades 9 to 10. The authors reported that even a \$1 increase in the minimum wage "could seem like an enormous incentive to leave high school" for this group, given their minimal knowledge regarding the labour market and the value of education for future earnings (2003: 20).

Impact of minimum wage increases on poverty: Understanding income mobility

Minimum wage advocates often argue that increasing the minimum wage will help alleviate poverty. The general idea behind this argument is that increasing the wages of low-income earners will help them in their struggle to purchase basic necessities and may even provide an incentive for some people receiving social assistance to search for work. While this line of thinking reflects good intentions, it is ultimately misguided and contradicted by the evidence.

As explained above, high minimum wages have numerous adverse effects on the labour market, the most important of which is the negative impact on employment. Moreover, research shows that negative employment effects can be even larger for workers with the fewest skills (Campolieti et al., 2006). [31] Furthermore, as noted in section II, most minimum wage earners are young and living at home, and often attending school. The reality is that

³⁰ Understandably, there was almost no effect in states that require students to attend school until they are 18 years old. The authors reported that 17% of the state/year observations in the sample had a compulsory schooling age of 18 years old while the remaining 83% of the sample had a compulsory schooling age of 14 to 17 years old.

³¹ Campolieti et al. (2006) found that calculating employment effects using employment data for all young workers may have masked some of the impact minimum wage increases will have on young workers who are less skilled. In fact, the authors reported that "many of the elasticities [employment effects] for the less-skilled group are larger than the estimates in the baseline samples, so the minimum wages tend to have larger impact on the employment rates of less-skilled groups" (2006: 206). Given that most minimum wage earners are young and relatively less skilled, employment losses may be particularly large for those workers with the fewest skills.

fewer and fewer low-income workers are supporting a family while earning the minimum wage (Burkhauser and Sabia, 2005). [32] This indicates that minimum wages are poorly targeted to help those in need, and that they can actually make matters worse by reducing opportunities for work.

Another reason why minimum wages will not have an appreciable effect on poverty is that earning the minimum wage is largely a temporary experience. In fact, research shows there are very few workers who remain in minimum wage jobs year after year. While much of this research is US-based, given the similarities between the Canadian and US labour markets, similar results should be expected for Canada and, more specifically, for British Columbia.

An important study by Smith and Vavrichek (1992) examined the income mobility of minimum wage workers in the United States from 1983 to 1987 and found that most minimum wage workers were earning more than the minimum wage after just one year. In fact, 63% of workers who remained in the labour force earned more than the minimum wage after one year, with a typical wage gain of about 20%. [33] Importantly, the minority that did not experience wage gains were largely part-time workers and/or non-high school graduates. [34] The implication is that most workers earning the minimum wage experienced upward income mobility.

Long (1999) replicated the Smith and Vavrichek study using updated data from 1991 to 1995. He found that the majority (69.4%) of workers earning minimum wage earned more than the minimum wage after one year of work. After two years of work, 80.2% of these workers earned more than the minimum wage. Long noted that the few workers who remained in minimum wage jobs tended not to have a high school diploma or were elderly individuals.

Schiller (1994) examined the training and mobility experiences of young workers who entered the labour force between 1980 and 1987. He focused specifically on young workers who entered the labour force earning the minimum wage. He found that "[one] out of three minimum wage entrants consistently earns above minimum wages within one year of labor market entry. Sixty percent of the minimum-wage entrants had surpassed the minimum-wage threshold within two years. Only 15% of the 1980 entrants still had any minimum-wage experience after three years" (1994: 629). Schiller concluded that minimum wage workers "[are] not 'trapped' in a low-wage

- 33 Approximately 19% of workers left the labour force during the time period.
- 34 See Carrington and Fallick (2001) for a more in-depth analysis of minimum wage workers who are less likely to experience wage gains.

³² Burkhauser and Sabia, examining American minimum wage workers, found that "fewer and fewer low-wage employees are supporting a family at the minimum wage, with only 9% of low-wage employees actually supporting a poor family" (2005: 3).

orbit ... their post-entry wage gains are substantial, both in the absolute and relative to non-minimum-wage entrants" (2004: 622).

More recently, a study by Even and MacPherson (2003) examined the mobility of minimum wage workers using the US Current Population Survey from 1979 to 1999. The authors corroborated earlier findings that earning the minimum wage is largely a temporary experience. Almost one half (47.2%) of minimum wage workers reported earning more than the minimum wage after one year.

This research shows that the vast majority of workers who earn the minimum wage today will earn more than the minimum wage in the near future. With experience and growing skills, these workers increase their productivity and thus garner higher wages. Increasing the minimum wage may actually make matters worse by retarding employment and training opportunities. This, coupled with the fact that most minimum wage earners are young and live at home, means that increasing the minimum wage will likely have no appreciable effect on poverty. [35] This conclusion has been reached by the majority of economists. As Gunderson reports, "There tends to be general agreement among economists that minimum wages are an exceedingly blunt instrument for curbing poverty" (2007: 19). [36]

- 35 While it is beyond the scope of this study to consider solutions to poverty in British Columbia, it is worthwhile to note the suggestive relationship between strong economic performance and the number of workers earning minimum wage. Consider the casual observation of economic growth rates and minimum wage incidence in the Canadian provinces. The three Canadian provinces with the lowest rates of minimum wage incidence—Alberta (1.2%), Saskatchewan (3.2%), and British Columbia (3.4%)—also have Canada's highest rates of economic growth. From 2003 to 2007, the average rate of real economic growth in these provinces was 4.7%, 2.9%, and 3.4%, respectively. Then consider Nova Scotia, Prince Edward Island, and Ontario, which from 2003 to 2007 had minimum wage incidence of 6.2%, 6.3%, and 6.8%, and economic growth rates of 1.4%, 2.2%, and 2.2%, respectively. Newfoundland & Labrador was an outlier, recording a minimum wage incidence of 7.4% while posting an average economic growth rate of 3.3%. However, Newfoundland & Labrador's relatively high average was driven by an uncharacteristically high growth rate in 2007; rates of real economic growth from 2003 to 2007 were: 5.9%, -1.8%, 0.3%, 3.3%, and 9.1% (Statistics Canada, 2008c). It is not unreasonable to conclude that strong economic performance may be the best remedy for low wages.
- 36 In 2007, the Employment Policies Institute conducted a survey of 280 labour economists in the United States and made a similar conclusion (see Fowler and Smith, 2007). About half (49%) believed that a minimum wage set to 150% of the current (federal) level would result in no change to poverty. Another 19% believed such an increase would actually increase poverty. Only a minority (32%) believed increasing the minimum wage would reduce poverty.

Conclusion

While minimum wages are implemented with the best of intentions, the economic reality is that they likely do much more harm than good. There is a vast amount of research from Canada and around the world that demonstrates convincingly that high minimum wages lead to lower employment levels, fewer benefits, less training, and lower school enrollment. Further, minimum wages have little or no effect on alleviating poverty and can even make problems worse for the workers minimum wages are intended to help.

IV. Employment effects of increasing BC's minimum wage to \$10 per hour

Increasing BC's minimum wage from \$8.00 to \$10.00 per hour has recently been advocated by numerous groups in British Columbia and across Canada. [37] As the previous section explained, such a significant increase in the minimum wage would have numerous negative impacts, especially on the employment opportunities for the workers minimum wage increases are intended to help. This section calculates the employment effects of increasing the minimum wage in British Columbia to \$10 per hour.

Profile of workers earning \$10 per hour or less

To analyze the impact of increasing the minimum wage to \$10 per hour, it is critical to understand who currently earns \$10 per hour or less. This section presents a profile of workers who earned \$10 per hour or less in British Columbia in 2007.

Number and age distribution of workers earning \$10 per hour or less Table 5 presents the number of workers earning \$10 per hour or less by age in British Columbia in 2007. In 2007, there were 293,100 workers in British Columbia earning \$10 per hour or less, representing 15.9% of total employment in the province; the vast majority of workers in British Columbia earned more than \$10 per hour.

The prevalence of workers earning \$10 per hour or less tended to be higher in younger age groups. In 2007, 72.0% of teenagers (aged 15 to 19) worked for \$10 per hour or less, the highest percentage of any age group by a considerable margin. The next largest percentage of workers earning \$10 per or less was

³⁷ See for example, New Democratic Party of Canada (2008), Canadian Labour Congress (2008), British Columbia Federation of Labour (2008), and Murray and Mackenzie (2007) of the Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives. There are several reasons why unions and union-financed organizations would benefit from an increase in the minimum wage. As Swidinsky and Wilton (1982) explain, unions benefit because (1) union wage structures are often pegged to market wage differentials; if the lower end of the wage scale increases, union wage differentials will increase proportionately; and, (2) low-wage (unskilled) labour is a substitute for high-wage (skilled) labour, which often characterizes union labour. For further reading on the political economy of minimum wages, see Neumark and Wascher (2008).

Age group	Total employment	Workers earning \$10 per hour or less	Percentage of workers earning \$10 per hour or less	Proportion of workers earning \$10 per hour or less
15-19	134,100	96,600	72.0%	33.0%
20-24	213,900	62,200	29.1%	21.2%
25-34	401,600	42,400	10.6%	14.5%
35-44	429,700	35,200	8.2%	12.0%
45-54	424,600	31,000	7.3%	10.6%
55+	237,100	25,700	10.8%	8.8%
All Ages	1,841,000	293,100	15.9%	100.0%

Table 5: Number and percentage of workers earning \$10 per hour or less in British Columbia by age group, 2007

Source: Statistics Canada, 2008a; calculations by authors.

found among workers aged 20 to 24 at 29.1%. Each subsequent age group had a lower percentage of workers earning \$10 per hour or less, except the 55 and older age group (10.8%). As with minimum wage earners, this may reflect the number of retirees employed in part-time work to supplement their income.

Among workers earning \$10 per hour or less, 33.0% were aged 15 to 19, and 21.2% were aged 20 to 24; combined, young people accounted for 54.2% of workers earning 10\$ per hour or less. Thus, the data clearly show that earning low wages is for the most part a phenomenon experienced by British Columbia's youngest workers.

As with the profile of minimum wage workers, the general profile of workers earning \$10 per hour or less in British Columbia is largely the same across Canada. In 2007, 31.7% of workers earning \$10 per hour or less across Canada were between 15 and 19 years old; another 21.6% were between the ages of 20 and 24. Combined, these two groups accounted for 53.2% of workers earning \$10 per hour or less (see Appendix A for a detailed breakdown of the ages of workers earning \$10 per hour or less in Canada).

Living situation of workers earning \$10 per hour or less

Table 6 shows the breakdown of those earning \$10 per hour or less by family structure in British Columbia for 2007. There are four general categories: member of a couple, single parent, child or relative living with family, and unattached individual.

Examining the living situation of workers earning \$10 per hour or less reveals that most of these workers live at home with family. In 2007, 145,300 (49.6%) of these workers were a son, daughter, or other relative living at home. Similar to the proportions among minimum wage workers, about half (48.5%) of workers earning \$10 per hour or less were between the ages 15 of 24 and were attending school. The proportion of workers earning \$10 per hour or less in

	Total employment	Workers earning \$10 per hour or less	Proportion of workers earning \$10 per hour or less
Total persons	1,841,000	293,100	100.0%
Member of a couple	1,014,900	87,100	29.7%
Spouse not employed	193,400	17,100	5.8%
Spouse employed Spouse earning minimum wage or less Spouse earning more than minimum wage	821,500 11,300 675,000 135 200	70,000 2,400 55,400 12,200	23.9% 0.8% 18.9% 4.2%
Head of family, no spouse present	117,200	15,800	5.4%
Son, daughter, or other relative living with family	360,500	145,300	49.6%
15 to 19 years, in school	66,600	55,700	19.0%
15 to 19 years, not in school	53,700	32,700	11.2%
20 to 24 years, in school	32,300	14,800	5.0%
20 to 24 years, not in school	78,700	21,900	7.5%
25 years or over, in school	8,200	0	0.0%
25 years or over, not in school	121,100	19,000	6.5%
Unattached individual	348,500	44,900	15.3%

Table 6: Workers earning \$10 per hour or less in British Columbia by family structure, 2007

Source: Statistics Canada, 2008a; calculations by authors.

other living situations was much smaller. Nearly one third of these workers were members of a couple, and similar to minimum wage earners, the vast majority of this group were living in a household with an employed spouse. A further 15.3% were unattached individuals, while only 5.4% were single parents.

To compare, 48.8% of all workers across Canada earning \$10 per hour or less were a son, daughter, or other relative living with family. As with British Columbia, the proportion of workers in other living situations was much smaller: 31.3% were a member of a couple, the majority of whom lived in a household with an employed spouse; 13.2% were unattached individuals; and 6.7% were single parents (see Appendix A for a more detailed breakdown of the living situations of workers earning \$10 per hour or less in Canada).

Overall, the data clearly show that the general profile of workers earning \$10 per hour or less is strikingly similar to the general profile of minimum wage earners. Critically, this means that the costs and benefits associated with increasing the minimum wage will largely be borne by the same type of workers currently earning the minimum wage: young and less skilled workers living with family.

Previous estimates of the employment loss associated with minimum wage increases

The overwhelming consensus of the academic research summarized in section III is that minimum wage increases have a significant impact on employment, particularly for younger workers. While the studies examine the impact of previous changes in the minimum wage, their findings can be used to estimate the likely impact of future minimum wage increases. Indeed, several authors have used historical research on the impact of minimum wage increases to estimate the likely impact of future changes.

In their 1992 study, Jean-Michel Cousineau, David Tessier, and François Vaillancourt of the Université de Montreal estimated the employment loss associated with increasing Ontario's minimum wage from \$5.40 to \$6.90 in 1990. [38] The authors first calculated the effect minimum wage increases had on unemployment rates for female and youth (aged 16 to 24) workers. They found that a 10% increase in the minimum wage was associated with a 1.4% increase in the unemployment rate for women and a 1.5% increase in the unemployment rate for young workers. The authors then calculated the employment loss by multiplying the percentage increase in the minimum wage by the employment effect found in their analysis. The 13 percentage point increase in the minimum wage (calculated as a ratio of \$11.50, the average industrial wage at the time) would lead to a 1.82 percentage point increase in the unemployment rate of women and a 1.99 percentage point increase in the unemployment rate of youth workers. The authors then implied that this increase in unemployment was equal to a loss of employment of 43,000 jobs among women and 18,000 jobs among youth.

A 1995 study by Michael Shannon and Charles Beach published in *Canadian Public Policy* calculated the expected employment loss associated with increasing Ontario's minimum wage from \$4.75 to \$6.75 in 1989. [39]

³⁸ Ontario's minimum wage in 1990 was \$5.40. The authors estimated the employment loss associated with the New Democratic Party's (NDP) proposal to raise the minimum wage to 60% of the average industrial wage. The authors reported that the average industrial wage rate in 1990 was \$11.50, meaning that the NDP proposal equates to a \$6.90 minimum wage rate.

³⁹ The \$6.75 represents 60% of the average wage in Ontario, a proposal put forth by the Ontario government in 1991.

The authors reported that this minimum wage increase would increase the cost of wages in the province by 23.3%. Shannon and Beach then calculated the employment loss in Ontario by multiplying this percentage increase in minimum wages by the employment effect (i.e., employment elasticity) [40] found by Clark and Freeman (1980) of -0.33. Clark and Freeman's employment effect of -0.33 means that a 10% increase in the minimum wage would lead to a 3.3% reduction in the number of jobs. Shannon and Beach found that a 23.3% increase in minimum wages in Ontario would lead to a 6.2% to 7.7% reduction in jobs among those affected by the increase (73,000 to 92,000 workers). [41]

Another study by Professors William Even of Miami University and David MacPherson of Florida State University (1996) estimated the employment loss associated with increasing the minimum wage in the United States from \$4.25 to \$5.51 in 1993. [42] Using existing estimates of the employment effect of changing the minimum wage, [43] the authors estimated that this 29.6% increase in the minimum wage would have reduced teenage (16- to 19-year olds) employment by 240,000, and youth employment (20- to 24-year olds) by 349,000 in the United States. [44]

In 2007, Professor Morley Gunderson of the University of Toronto conducted a study for the Ontario Ministry of Finance on the effects of increasing the province's minimum wage from \$8 to \$10 per hour. Professor Gunderson estimated the likely impact of increasing Ontario's minimum wage using estimates of the employment effect based on existing Canadian research. In his review of the Canadian research, Professor Gunderson found that "a 10% increase in the minimum wage is likely to reduce the employment of teens by 3% to 6%, and slightly lower for young adults" (2007: 12). He calculated that Ontario's proposed 25% increase in the minimum wage would likely result in a teen employment loss of 7.5% to 15.0% in the province.

44 The authors' use Brown et al.'s (1982) survey of 18 studies, which found that a 10% increase in the minimum wage reduces the employment of teenagers by an average of 1.5% and the employment of youth (20- to 24-year olds) by 1%.

⁴⁰ See footnote 17.

⁴¹ The low-end estimate represents the authors' estimate of 20% non-compliance (because of minimum wage exemptions and/or employer non-compliance with the law). Put differently, the low-end estimate represents 80% of the base calculation.

⁴² The authors estimated the employment effect using what the minimum wage would have been in 1993 if the government indexed the minimum wage rate to the ratio of minimum wages to the average industrial wage starting in 1974. They found that instead of the legislated \$4.25 per hour in 1993, the "indexed" minimum wage would have been \$5.51 per hour.

⁴³ The authors cite Brown et al.'s (1982) survey of the research which demonstrated that a 10% increase in the minimum wage causes teenage employment to drop between 1% and 3% with an average drop of 1.5%; and that a 10% increase in the minimum wage causes as much as a 1% decrease in the employment of young adults (aged 20 to 24).

Estimating the employment loss associated with a \$10 minimum wage in British Columbia

This section presents an empirical estimate of the employment loss in British Columbia associated with increasing the minimum wage to \$10 per hour. A range of the employment effects found in previous Canadian studies is used to estimate this employment loss.

Recall from table 4 in Section III that there are two general categories of employment effects: those that apply to workers who are directly affected (whose wage falls in between the old and new minimum wage) and those that apply to teens and youth workers more generally. Accordingly, two employment loss calculations will be presented. The first calculation estimates the employment loss for workers who currently earn \$10 per hour or less. The second estimates the employment loss for all teen and youth workers.

Employment loss for workers directly affected

Section III showed that the employment effect for workers directly affected by a minimum wage increase ranges from -0.45 to -2.0. This means that a 10% increase in the minimum wage would likely decrease employment among this group by 4.5% to 20.0%.

Increasing British Columbia's minimum wage from \$8 to \$10 per hour constitutes a 25% increase for workers earning exactly the minimum wage and an average increase of 12.5% for workers earning between \$8 to \$10 per hour. [45] The average wage increase can be calculated by summing the proportion of workers earning exactly the minimum wage, multiplied by a 25% increase, and the remaining group of workers earning between the old and new minimum wage, multiplied by their average increase of 12.5%. [46] Table 2 (pg. 13) shows that the number of workers aged 15 to 24 who earn the minimum wage is 35,000, and table 5 (pg. 30) shows that the number of workers aged 15 to 24 who earn \$10 per hour or less is 158,800. This implies that 22.0% of the 158,800 workers will experience a 25.0% wage increase. Assuming the remaining number of workers (123,800, or 78.0%) are equally distributed between the old minimum

⁴⁵ This assumes an equal distribution of workers earning a wage between the old and new minimum wage.

⁴⁶ The average wage increase for workers earning above the minimum wage can be calculated by averaging the percentage wage increases for each incremental increase in the minimum wage. Consider that for a worker currently earning \$8.01 per hour, increasing the minimum wage to \$10 per hour would constitute a 24.9% increase; for a worker earning \$8.02, it would constitute a 24.8% increase. The same pattern holds for each one-cent increase in the minimum wage. Similarly, at the other end of the distribution, for a worker currently earning \$9.99 per hour, increasing the minimum wage to \$10 per hour would constitute a 0.13% increase; for a worker earning \$9.98 per hour, it would constitute a 0.25% increase. The average of all the wage increases for this group will be the mid-point, or 12.5%.

Table 7: Employment effect associated with increasing the minimum wage rate to \$10 per hour in British Columbia, 2007 – workers directly affected

		Reduction (perc in teen and you	entage change) th employment		Reduction (nur teen and yout	nber of jobs) in h employment
Minimum wage, 2007	Percentage increase from general minimum wage to \$10	Lower bound employment effect (0.45)	Upper bound employment effect (2.0)	Teen and youth employment (15-24)	Lower bound estimate	Upper bound estimate
\$8.00	15.3%	-6.9%	-30.5%	158,800	-10,898	-48,434

Sources: Human Resources and Social Development Canada, 2008; Statistics Canada, 2008a: table 9; calculations by authors.

wage and the new minimum wage, the average wage increase will be 12.5%. Therefore, the average wage increase for all 158,800 workers is 15.3%.

Using estimates of the employment effect described above, this 15.3% increase in the minimum wage is associated with a 6.9% to 30.5% loss in employment for the teens and youths who are directly affected. Table 7 shows that the estimated loss in teen and youth employment in British Columbia associated with increasing the minimum wage to \$10 per hour equates to a loss of 10,898 to 48,434 jobs for these workers.

Employment loss for all teen and youth workers

This section will replicate the same methodology used for directly affected workers and apply it to all teen and youth workers.

Recall from section III that the employment effect for all teen and youth workers ranges from -0.3 to -0.6, meaning that a 10% increase in the minimum wage would decrease employment by 3.0% to 6.0%. As the minimum wage increase is applied to all teen and youth workers, there is no need to calculate an average percentage increase in wage rates; a 25.0% increase would be applicable to all workers. Using estimates of the employment effect described above, a 25.0% increase in the minimum wage is associated with a 7.5% to 15.0% loss in employment for teens and youths directly affected.

Table 8 shows the estimated employment loss in British Columbia associated with increasing the minimum wage to \$10 per hour. Given that total teen and youth employment in British Columbia in 2007 was 348,000, the estimated 7.5% to 15.0% loss in employment equates to a loss of 26,100 to 52,200 jobs.

The above estimates clearly show that the workers most directly affected by minimum wage increases—young workers—will be severely affected if British Columbia raises its minimum wage to \$10 per hour. Considering estimates derived from both methodologies produces a range of employment loss from 10,898 to 52,200 jobs for young workers.

Table 8: Employment effect associated with increasing the minimum wage rate to \$10 per hour in British Columbia, 2007 – all teen and youth workers

		Reduction (perc in teen and you	centage change) ith employment		Reduction (nui teen and yout	mber of jobs) in h employment
Minimum wage, 2007	Percentage increase from general minimum wage to \$10	Lower bound employment effect (0.3)	Upper bound employment effect (0.6)	Total teen and youth employment (15-24)	Lower bound estimate	Upper bound estimate
\$8.00	25.0%	-7.5%	-15.0%	348,000	-26,100	-52,200

Sources: Human Resources and Social Development Canada, 2008; Statistics Canada, 2008a: table 9; calculations by authors.

Large versus incremental increases in the minimum wage

An important but often overlooked aspect of the employment loss effect is the way in which minimum wages are increased, which can have an important impact on the magnitude of the employment loss. In a 2007 study, Gunderson explained that the effect of a large, one-time increase in the minimum wage could be larger than that of incremental increases in the minimum wage. Gunderson identified several reasons for this. First, the cost of a large increase may place a heavy burden on employers, especially smaller ones, and lead them to to contract or even close their business. A large increase may also "shock" employers such that they may make more significant adjustments to labour inputs (i.e., number of workers employed, hours worked, etc.) than they otherwise would. In addition, a large, one-time increase may signal to employers that the government favours low-wage labour at the expense of other economic activities. As such, employers may make a permanent change to their business by shifting away from low-wage labour and increasing their use of other resources.

In an earlier study, Michele Campolieti and his colleaugues (2005b) examined the employment loss effect during British Columbia's two 50-cent increases in the minimum wage from 1994 to 1995. These increases together were the largest cumulative increase among all Canadian provinces over their period of study, 1993 to 1999. The authors found that the employment effect associated with this minimum wage increase was about twice as large as the employment effect associated with all minimum wage increases from 1993 to 1999. They reported that "the results are suggestive of a much larger disemployment effect emanating from a large as opposed to a series of smaller cumulative minimum wage increases of the same magnitude" (2005b: 96). While they caution that this conclusion is based on just one study, their research empirically demonstrates that large, immediate increases can have

a greater negative impact on youth employment than incremental increases can have.

As discussed above, Gunderson (2007) calculated that the employment loss associated with increasing the minimum wage in Ontario from \$8 to \$10 per hour would range from 7.5% to 15%. However, he also explained that this employment loss assumed no differential impact between a large, one-time increase and a series of incremental increases. Applying the findings from Campolieti et al. (2005b) to Ontario, he offered the following analysis: "If the effect of a one-time large increase is twice the magnitude as a series of ad hoc irregular increases (as the limited evidence suggests), then the effect would be double to approximately a 15% to 30% reduction in teen employment. The impacts would be slightly less for youths" (2007: 14).

The same adjustment that Gunderson (2007) used for Ontario is equally applicable to British Columbia. The estimate of the employment loss for British Columbia noted above assumes no differential impact between a large, one-time increase and a series of smaller incremental increases; the employment loss is calculated using estimates of employment loss associated with a marginal increase in the minimum wage. Applying Gunderson's adjustment, however, reveals that a large, one-time increase in British Columbia's minimum wage from \$8 to \$10 per hour could result in an employment loss ranging from 15% to 30%. This means that a large, immediate jump to a \$10-per-hour minimum wage in British Columbia could result in a much larger loss for young workers in the province.

Conclusion

This section empirically assessed the impact of increasing the minimum wage in British Columbia to \$10 per hour. It demonstrated that the costs and benefits of such an increase would largely be borne by the same group of British Columbians earning the current minimum wage, that is, young workers living at home. Workers such as single parents and unattached individuals would remain largely unaffected by this policy change. Using methodology developed by several Canadian and international economists, we found that increasing the minimum wage to \$10 per hour would have significant negative effects on employment. Specifically, the employment loss in British Columbia is conservatively estimated to range from 10,898 to 52,200 jobs for young workers. While proposals to increase the minimum wage to \$10 per hour may be based on good intentions, such an increase would have a profound negative effect on those currently earning the minimum wage, and would have almost no effect on low income workers who are struggling.

Conclusion

The purpose of this study is to inform British Columbians about the economic effects of high and increasing minimum wages. This study also aims to empirically assess the cost of increasing the minimum wage. Together, these analyses will help inform the public and policy makers about the impacts of changing minimum wage laws.

Minimum wage laws establish the lowest level of hourly pay that employers must pay workers. British Columbia's current general minimum wage rate is \$8.00 per hour, the 5th highest among the Canadian provinces. However, it has one of the highest minimum wage rates relative to average earnings when compared to all 10 Canadian provinces and 50 US states (7th highest out of 60).

The most commonly cited purpose of minimum wages is to increase the incomes of society's low-income workers. But in reality, minimum wages are simply incapable of achieving the intended results. Moreover, minimum wages can actually worsen the situation of the people minimum wage laws are intended to help.

In British Columbia, 62,600 workers earned the minimum wage in 2007, representing 3.4% of total employment. Of those earning the minimum wage, well over half (55.9%) were young workers between 15 and 24 years old. Further, the majority of BC's minimum wage workers live at home with family; most of these workers also attend school. Many of the remaining individuals earning minimum wages are adults who are supplementing their family income with part-time work during child-rearing years or after retirement. In general, the typical minimum wage worker in British Columbia—and across Canada—is someone who is young and living at home. As such, minimum wage increases will largely affect younger workers and actually have a negligible effect on adults, generally, and those supporting families, specifically.

The economic reality of minimum wages is that they likely do much more harm than good. A large body of research from Canada and around the world demonstrates convincingly that high minimum wages lead to lower employment levels, fewer benefits, less training, and lower school enrollment. Fewer employment opportunities and less training are particularly harmful, given that experience and skill development are important drivers of higher wages. Research also shows that earning the minimum wage is almost exclusively a temporary experience. This, coupled with the fact that higher minimum wages actually retard employment and training opportunities, leads to the conclusion that minimum wages will have no appreciable effect on alleviating poverty—a conclusion reached by most economists.

Despite the overwhelming evidence documenting the negative effects of minimum wages, some groups continue to advocate for increases. Section IV of this study empirically assessed the impact of increasing the minimum wage in British Columbia from \$8 to \$10 per hour. The data show that the costs and benefits of such an increase would largely be borne by the same group of British Columbians earning the current minimum wage, that is, young workers living at home. Workers such as single parents and unattached individuals would remain largely unaffected by this policy change. Using methodology developed by several Canadian and international economists, we found that increasing the minimum wage to \$10 per hour would have significant negative effects on employment. Specifically, the employment loss in British Columbia is conservatively estimated to range from about 10,898 to 52,200 jobs, but it could be higher. While increasing the minimum wage to \$10 per hour may reflect good intentions, it would have a profound negative impact on those currently earning the minimum wage, and have almost no impact on those greatest in need.

If the government wishes to raise the incomes of and improve economic opportunities for British Columbia's working poor, they would be wise to steer clear of increasing the minimum wage.

Appendix A: Profile of workers earning \$10 per hour or less in British Columbia and Canada

Table A1.1: Age and gender of workers earning minimum wage and workers earning \$10 per hour or less in British Columbia, 2007

		Earn	ing minimum	wage	Ea	arning \$10 or le	SS
	Total employed persons (thousands)	Number of workers (thousands)	Percentage of workers earning minimum wage	Proportion of minimum wage earners	Number of workers (thousands)	Percentage of workers earning \$10 per hour or less	Proportion of workers earning \$10 per hour or less
Total	1841.0	62.6	3.4%	100.0%	293.1	15.9%	100.0%
15-19	134.1	25.2	18.8%	40.3%	96.6	72.0%	33.0%
20-24	213.9	9.8	4.6%	15.7%	62.2	29.1%	21.2%
25-34	401.6	9.2	2.3%	14.7%	42.4	10.6%	14.5%
35-44	429.7	6.6	1.5%	10.5%	35.2	8.2%	12.0%
45-54	424.6	5.8	1.4%	9.3%	31.0	7.3%	10.6%
55+	237.1	6.0	2.5%	9.6%	25.7	10.8%	8.8%
Male	938.3	24.1	2.6%	38.5%	115.7	12.3%	39.5%
15-19	68.1	10.8	15.9%	17.3%	43.6	64.0%	14.9%
20-24	111.0	3.4	3.1%	5.4%	23.4	21.1%	8.0%
25-34	210.0	3.0	1.4%	4.8%	16.3	7.8%	5.6%
35-44	217.9	2.3	1.1%	3.7%	11.5	5.3%	3.9%
45-54	205.6	1.8	0.9%	2.9%	9.7	4.7%	3.3%
55+	125.6	2.7	2.1%	4.3%	11.2	8.9%	3.8%
Female	902.8	38.5	4.3%	61.5%	177.4	19.6%	60.5%
15-19	66.0	14.4	21.8%	23.0%	53.1	80.5%	18.1%
20-24	102.9	6.3	6.1%	10.1%	38.8	37.7%	13.2%
25-34	191.6	6.2	3.2%	9.9%	26.1	13.6%	8.9%
35-44	211.8	4.3	2.0%	6.9%	23.7	11.2%	8.1%
45-54	218.9	4.0	1.8%	6.4%	21.4	9.8%	7.3%
55+	111.5	3.3	3.0%	5.3%	14.4	12.9%	4.9%

Source: Statistics Canada, 2008a; calculations by authors.

		Earn	ing minimum	wage	Ea	arning \$10 or le	SS
	Total employed persons (thousands)	Number of workers (thousands)	Percentage of workers earning minimum wage	Proportion of minimum wage earners	Number of workers (thousands)	Percentage of workers earning \$10 per hour or less	Proportion of workers earning \$10 per hour or less
lotal	14251.4	716.1	5.0%	100.0%	2532.4	17.8%	100.0%
15-19	973.6	323.7	33.2%	45.2%	802.3	82.4%	31.7%
20-24	1526.5	123.5	8.1%	17.2%	545.8	35.8%	21.6%
25-34	3219.3	76.1	2.4%	10.6%	345.5	10.7%	13.6%
35-44	3387.2	70.1	2.1%	9.8%	306.9	9.1%	12.1%
45-54	3352.5	64.4	1.9%	9.0%	293.7	8.8%	11.6%
55+	1792.2	58.3	3.3%	8.1%	238.1	13.3%	9.4%
Male	7185.8	285.9	4.0%	39.9%	995.3	13.9%	39.3%
15-19	476.7	141.9	29.8%	19.8%	363.1	76.2%	14.3%
20-24	784.4	51.7	6.6%	7.2%	235.5	30.0%	9.3%
25-34	1657.2	28.5	1.7%	4.0%	130.3	7.9%	5.1%
35-44	1714.9	20.2	1.2%	2.8%	91.8	5.4%	3.6%
45-54	1632.0	22.3	1.4%	3.1%	86.3	5.3%	3.4%
55+	920.5	21.4	2.3%	3.0%	88.4	9.6%	3.5%
Female	7065.6	430.2	6.1%	60.1%	1537.1	21.8%	60.7%
15-19	496.9	181.8	36.6%	25.4%	439.2	88.4%	17.3%
20-24	742.1	71.8	9.7%	10.0%	310.4	41.8%	12.3%
25-34	1562.1	47.6	3.0%	6.6%	215.2	13.8%	8.5%
35-44	1672.4	49.9	3.0%	7.0%	215.1	12.9%	8.5%
45-54	1720.5	42.1	2.4%	5.9%	207.4	12.1%	8.2%
55+	871.7	37.0	4.2%	5.2%	149.8	17.2%	5.9%

Table A1.2: Age and gender of workers earning minimum wage and workers earning \$10 per hour or less in Canada, 2007

Source: Statistics Canada, 2008a; calculations by authors.

	_	Б	rning minimum wa	90		Farning \$10 or lee	ų
	Total employed persons (thousands)	Number of workers (thousands)	Percentage of workers earning minimum wage	Proportion of minimum wage earners	Number of workers (thousands)	Percentage of Workers earning \$10 per hour or less	Proportion of workers earning \$10 per hour or less
Member of a couple	1014.9	17.9	1.8%	28.6%	87.1	8.6%	29.7%
Spouse not employed	193.4	3.3	1.7%	5.3%	17.1	8.8%	5.8%
Spouse unemployed	25.5	0.0	0.0%	0.0%	3.3	12.9%	1.1%
Spouse not in the labour force	167.9	2.5	1.5%	4.0%	13.7	8.2%	4.7%
Less than 55 years	107.0	0.0	0.0%	0.0%	8.5	7.9%	2.9%
55 years and over	60.9	0.0	0.0%	0.0%	5.2	8.5%	1.8%
Spouse employed	821.5	14.6	1.8%	23.3%	70.0	8.5%	23.9%
Spouse earning minimum wage or less	11.3	0.0	0.0%	0.0%	2.4	21.2%	0.8%
Spouse earning more than minimum wage	675.0	10.8	1.6%	17.3%	55.4	8.2%	18.9%
Spouse self-employed	135.2	3.2	2.4%	5.1%	12.2	9.0%	4.2%
Head of family, no spouse present	117.2	2.7	2.3%	4.3%	15.8	13.5%	5.4%
Youngest child is less than 18 years	60.7	0.0	0.0%	0.0%	5.7	9.4%	1.9%
No children, or youngest child is 18 years or older	56.4	1.5	2.7%	2.4%	10.1	17.9%	3.4%
Son, daughter or other relative living with family	360.5	34.2	9.5%	54.6%	145.3	40.3%	49.6%
15 to 19 years, in school	66.6	16.9	25.4%	27.0%	55.7	83.6%	19.0%
15 to 19 years, not in school	53.7	6.9	12.8%	11.0%	32.7	60.9%	11.2%
20 to 24 years, in school	32.3	3.0	9.3%	4.8%	14.8	45.8%	5.0%
20 to 24 years, not in school	78.7	3.5	4.4%	5.6%	21.9	27.8%	7.5%
25 years or over, in school	8.2	0.0	0.0%	0.0%	0.0	0.0%	0.0%
25 years or over, not in school	121.1	3.8	3.1%	6.1%	19.0	15.7%	6.5%
Unattached individual	348.5	7.8	2.2%	12.5%	44.9	12.9%	15.3%
Living alone	211.8	3.5	1.7%	5.6%	20.2	9.5%	6.9%
15 to 24 years	20.1	0.0	0.0%	0.0%	5.7	28.4%	1.9%
25 to 54 years	153.1	1.9	1.2%	3.0%	11.1	7.3%	3.8%
55 years and over	38.6	0.0	0.0%	0.0%	3.4	8.8%	1.2%
Living with non-relatives	136.7	4.3	3.1%	6.9%	24.7	18.1%	8.4%
15 to 24 years	44.8	1.6	3.6%	2.6%	13.4	29.9%	4.6%
25 to 54 years	86.0	2.5	2.9%	4.0%	10.8	12.6%	3.7%
55 years and over	5.9	0.0	0.0%	0.0%	0.0	0.0%	0.0%

			aye allu wuln				ada, 2007
	Total employed persons (thousands)	Ea Number of workers (thousands)	rning minimum wa Percentage of workers earning minimum wage	ge Proportion of minimum wage earners	Number of workers (thousands)	Earning \$10 or les Percentage of workers earning \$10 per hour or less	is Proportion of workers earning \$10 per hour or less
Member of a couple	8161.3	174.4	2.1%	24.4%	792.5	9.7%	31.3%
Spouse not employed	1494.7	45.1	3.0%	6.3%	181.6	12.1%	7.2%
Spouse unemployed	271.6	10.2	3.8%	1.4%	42.4	15.6%	1.7%
Spouse not in the labour force	1223.1	35.0	2.9%	4.9%	139.2	11.4%	5.5%
Less than 55 years	749.4	17.5	2.3%	2.4%	71.0	9.5%	2.8%
55 years and over	473.7	17.5	3.7%	2.4%	68.2	14.4%	2.7%
Spouse employed	6666.6	129.3	1.9%	18.1%	610.9	9.2%	24.1%
Spouse earning minimum wage or less	105.3	9.1	8.6%	1.3%	23.2	22.0%	0.9%
Spouse earning more than minimum wage	5626.8	97.6	1.7%	13.6%	497.1	8.8%	19.6%
Spouse self-employed	934.5	22.6	2.4%	3.2%	90.6	9.7%	3.6%
Head of family, no spouse present	1022.5	36.4	3.6%	5.1%	169.3	16.6%	6.7%
Youngest child is less than 18 years	524.3	17.4	3.3%	2.4%	74.9	14.3%	3.0%
No children, or youngest child is 18 years or older	498.2	19.1	3.8%	2.7%	94.4	18.9%	3.7%
Son, daughter or other relative living with family	2721.5	427.3	15.7%	59.7%	1236.4	45.4%	48.8%
15 to 19 years, in school	524.4	209.3	39.9%	29.2%	470.1	89.6%	18.6%
15 to 19 years, not in school	363.2	97.8	26.9%	13.7%	271.4	74.7%	10.7%
20 to 24 years, in school	228.2	32.7	14.3%	4.6%	123.0	53.9%	4.9%
20 to 24 years, not in school	598.8	49.6	8.3%	6.9%	211.4	35.3%	8.3%
25 years or over, in school	56.2	2.7	4.8%	0.4%	11.8	21.0%	0.5%
25 years or over, not in school	950.8	35.3	3.7%	4.9%	148.7	15.6%	5.9%
Unattached individual	2346.1	77.9	3.3%	10.9%	334.1	14.2%	13.2%
Living alone	1540.1	38.5	2.5%	5.4%	165.4	10.7%	6.5%
15 to 24 years	125.7	7.9	6.3%	1.1%	37.8	30.1%	1.5%
25 to 54 years	1131.8	19.8	1.7%	2.8%	89.2	7.9%	3.5%
55 years and over	282.6	10.7	3.8%	1.5%	38.4	13.6%	1.5%
Living with non-relatives	806.0	39.4	4.9%	5.5%	168.8	20.9%	6.7%
15 to 24 years	257.9	20.5	7.9%	2.9%	91.9	35.6%	3.6%
25 to 54 years	505.5	16.6	3.3%	2.3%	69.5	13.7%	2.7%
55 years and over	42.5	2.2	5.2%	0.3%	7.3	17.2%	0.3%
Source: Statistics Canada, 2008a; calculations by	authors.						

The Economic Effects of Increasing BC's Minimum Wage 🕷 43

www.fraserinstitute.org 🕷 Fraser Institute

References

Baker, Michael (2005). *Minimum Wages and Human Capital Investments of Young Workers: Work Related Training and School Enrolment*. HRSDC/IC/SSHRC Skills Research Initiative Working Paper 2005 B-04.

Baker, Michael, Dwayne Benjamin, and Shuchita Stanger (1999). The Highs and Lows of the Minimum Wage Effect: A Time-Series Cross-Section Study of the Canadian Law. *Journal of Labor Economics* 17, 2: 318–50.

British Columbia Federation of Labour (2008). *Minimum Wage: The* \$10 *NOW Campaign*. <http://www.bcfed.ca/issues/minimum_wage>, as of February 20, 2008.

Brown, C. (1999). Minimum Wages, Employment and the Distribution of Income. In O. Ashenfelter and D. Card (eds.), *Handbook of Labor Economics* (Vol. 3) (Elsevier Science): 2101–63.

Brown, Charles, Curtis Gilroy, and Andrew Kohen (1982). The Effects of the Minimum Wage on Employment and Unemployment. *Journal of Economic Literature* 20: 487–528.

Burkhauser, Richard, Kenneth A. Couch, and David C. Wittenburg (2000). A Reassessment of the New Economics of the Minimum Wage Literature with Monthly Data from the Current Population Survey. *Journal of Labor Economics* 18, 4: 653–80.

Burkhauser, Richard, and Joseph Sabia (2005). *Raising the Minimum Wage: Another Empty Promise to the Working Poor*. Employment Policies Institute.

Campolieti, Michele, Tony Fang, and Morley Gunderson (2005a). How Minimum Wages Affect Schooling-Employment Outcomes in Canada, 1993-1999. *Journal of Labor Research* 26, 3: 533–45.

Campolieti, Michele, Tony Fang, and Morley Gunderson (2005b). Minimum Wage Impacts on Youth Employment Transitions, 1993-1999. *Canadian Journal of Economics* 38, 1: 81–104. Campolieti, Michele, Morley Gunderson, and Chris Riddell (2006). Minimum Wage Impacts from a Prespecified Research Design: Canada 1981-1997. *Relations Industrielles / Industrial Relations* 45, 2: 195–216.

Canadian Labour Congress (2008). *\$10/hr Federal Minimum Wage*. <http://canadianlabour.ca/index.php/10hr_federal_minimum>, as of February 20, 2008.

Card, David, and Alan Krueger (1994). Minimum Wages and Employment: A Case Study of the Fast-Food Industry in New Jersey and Pennsylvania. *American Economic Review* 84, 4 (September): 772–93.

Card, David, and Alan Krueger (1995). *Myth and Measurement: The New Economics of the Minimum Wage*. Princeton University Press.

Carrington, William, and Bruce Fallick (2001). Do Some Workers Have Minimum Wage Careers? *Monthly Labor Review* (May): 17–27.

Chaplin, Duncan D., Mark D. Turner, and Andreas D. Pape (2003). Minimum Wages and School Enrollment of Teenagers: A Look at the 1990s. *Economics of Education Review* 22: 11–21.

Clark, K., and R. Freeman (1980). How Elastic is the Demand for Labour? *Review of Economics and Statistics* 62: 509–20.

Cousineau, Jean-Michel (1979). Impact du Salarie Minimum sur le chômage des Jeunes et des Femmes au Québec. *Relations Industrielles / Industrial Relations* 34, 3: 403–17.

Cousineau, Jean-Michel, David Tessier, and François Vaillancourt (1992). The Impact of the Ontario Minimum Wage on the Unemployment of Women and the Young in Ontario: A Note. *Relations Industrielles / Industrial Relations* 47, 3: 559–66.

Edagbami, Olalekan (2006). *The Employment Effects of the Minimum Wage: A Review of the Literature*. Research Report W-32. Canadian Policy Research Networks.

Even, William, and David MacPherson (1996). Consequences of Minimum Wage Indexing. *Contemporary Economic Policy* 14, 4: 67–77.

Even, William, and David MacPherson (2003). The Wage and Employment Dynamics of Minimum Wage Workers. *Southern Economic Journal* 69, 3: 676–90.

Fortin, Pierre (1979). L'effet du Salarie Minimum sur les Prix L'emploi et la Répartition des Revenus le cas du Québec. *Relations Industrielles / Industrial Relations* 34, 4: 660–73.

Fowler, Tracy, and Andrew Smith (2007). *EPI Minimum Wage Survey of Labor Economists*. Employment Policies Institute.

Grubel, Herbert, and Dennis Maki (1981). A Note on the Effects of Unemployment Insurance, Minimum Wage Legislation, and Trade Union Growth on Reported Unemployment Rates in Canada, 1950-75. *Relations Industrielles / Industrial Relations* 36: 922–27.

Gunderson, Morley (2005). *Minimum Wages in Canada: Theory, Evidence and Policy*. Prepared for the Federal Labour Standards Review Commission.

Gunderson, Morley (2007). *Minimum Wages: Issues and Options for Ontario*. Prepared for the Ontario Ministry of Finance. http://www.fin.gov.on.ca/english/publications/2007/Gunderson/.

Hammermesh, Daniel (1995). Comments: What a Wonderful World This Would Be. *Industrial and Labour Relations Review* 48: 835–38.

Hashimoto, Masanori (1981). *Minimum Wages and On-the-Job Training*. American Enterprise Institute.

Human Resources and Social Development Canada (2008). *Hourly Minimum Wages in Canada for Adult Workers*. http://srv116.services.gc.ca/wid-dimt/mwa/index.aspx?report=report2&dec=1, as of July 2, 2008.

Landon, Stuart (1997). High School Enrollment, Minimum Wages and Education Spending. *Canadian Public Policy* 23, 2: 141–63.

Law, Marc (1998). *The Economics of Minimum Wage Laws*. Public Policy Sources No. 14. Fraser Institute.

Leighton, Linda, and Jacob Mincer (1981). The Effects of Minimum Wages on Human Capital Formation. In Simon Rottenburg (ed.), *The Economics of Legal Minimum Wages* (American Enterprise Institute): 155–73. Long, James (1999). Updated Estimates of the Wage Mobility of Minimum Wage Workers. *Journal of Labor Research* 20, 4: 493–503.

Maki, Denis (1979). The Effect of Changes in Minimum Wage Rates on Provincial Unemployment Rates, 1970-77. *Relations Industrielles / Industrial Relations* 34, 3: 418–30.

McCallum, Margaret (1986). Keeping Women in Their Place: The Minimum Wage in Canada, 1910-25. *Labour / Le Travail* 17 (Spring): 29–56.

McKee, Michael, and Edwin West (1984). Minimum Wage Effects on Part-Time Employment. *Economic Inquiry* 22: 421–28.

Mercier, Jacques (1985). Les Effets du Salarie Minimum sue L'emploi des Jeunes au Québec. *Relations Industrielles / Industrial Relations* 40, 3: 431–57.

Murray, Stuart, and Hugh Mackenzie (2007). *Bringing the Minimum Wages Above the Poverty Line – Summary*. Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives.

Neumark, David (2006). *The Economic Effects of Minimum Wages: What Might Missouri Expect from Passage of Proposition B?* Policy Study No. 2. Show-Me Institute.

Neumark, David, and William Wascher (1995a). Minimum Wage Effects on Employment and School Enrollment. *Journal of Business and Economic Statistics* 13: 199–206.

Neumark, David, and William Wascher (1995b). Minimum Wage Effects on School and Work Transitions of Teenagers. *American Economic Review Paper and Proceedings* 85, 2 (May): 244–49.

Neumark, David, and William Wascher (1996). The Effects of Minimum Wages on Teenage Employment and Enrollment: Evidence from Matched CPS Surveys. *Research in Labor Economics* 15: 250–63.

Neumark, David, and William Wascher (2000). The Effect of New Jersey's Minimum Wage Increase on Fast-Food Employment: A Reevaluation Using Payroll Records. *American Economic Review* 90, 5 (December): 1362–96.

Neumark, David, and William Wascher (2001). Minimum Wages and Training Revisited. *Journal of Labor Economics* 19, 3: 563–95.

Neumark, David, and William Wascher (2003). Minimum Wages and Skill Acquisition: Another Look at Schooling Effects. *Economics of Education Review* 22: 1–10.

Neumark, David, and William Wascher (2004). Minimum Wages, Labor Market Institutions, and Youth Employment: A Cross-National Analysis. *Industrial and Labor Relations Review* 57, 2: 223–48.

Neumark, David, and William Wascher (2006). *Minimum Wages and Employment: A Review of Evidence from the New Minimum Wage Research*. NBER Working Paper No. 12663.

Neumark, David, and William Wascher (2007a). Minimum Wages and Employment. *Foundations and Trends in Microeconomics* 3, 1–2: 1–182.

Neumark, David, and William Wascher (2007b). *Minimum Wages, the Earned Income Tax Credit, and Employment: Evidence from the Post-Welfare Reform Era*. NBER Working Paper No. 12915.

Neumark, David, and William Wascher (2008). Minimum Wages. MIT Press.

New Democratic Party of Canada (2008). Confronting Poverty in Canada. http://www.ndp.ca/page/4824, February 20, 2008.

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development [OECD] (1998). Making the Most of the Minimum: Statutory Minimum Wages, Employment and Poverty. In *OECD Employment Outlook 1998* (OECD): 31–79.

Palda, Filip (2000). Some Deadweight Losses from the Minimum Wage: The Cases of Full and Partial Compliance. *Labour Economics* 7: 751–83.

Partridge, Mark, and Jamie Partridge (1999). Do Minimum Wage Hikes Reduce Employment? State-Level Evidence from the Low-Wage Sector. *Journal of Labor Research* 20, 3: 393–413.

Pries, Micheal, and Richard Rogerson (2005). Hiring Policies, Labour Market Institutions, and Labour Market Flows. *Journal of Political Economy* 113, 4: 811–39.

Schaafsma, J., and W. Walsh (1983). Employment and Labour Supply Effects of the Minimum Wage: Some Pooled Time-series Estimates from Canadian Provincial Data. *Canadian Journal of Economics* 16: 86–97. Schiller, Bradley (1994). Moving Up: The Training and Wage Gains of Minimum-Wage Entrants. *Social Science Quarterly* 75, 3: 622–36.

Shannon, Michael T., and Charles M. Beach (1995). Distributional Employment Effects of Ontario's Minimum Wage Proposals: A Microdata Approach. *Canadian Public Policy* 21: 284–303.

Smith, Ralph, and Bruce Vavrichek (1992). The Wage Mobility of Minimum Wage Workers. *Industrial and Labor Relations Review* 46, 1: 82–88.

Statistics Canada (2006). Minimum Wage. *Perspectives on Labour and Income* 7, 9 (September): 12–17.

Statistics Canada (2008a). Employed Employees in Canada and the Provinces by Minimum Wage or Less and by \$10.00 or Less Per Hour, Annual Averages 2007, in Thousands. Special tabulation from Statistics Canada. Received February 8, 2008.

Statistics Canada (2008b). *Labour Force Historical Review 2007*. CD-ROM. Catalogue No. 71F0004XCB. Statistics Canada.

Statistics Canada (2008c). *Provincial Economic Accounts*. Statistics Canada.

Sussman, Deborah, and Martin Tabi (2004). Minimum Wage Workers. *Perspectives on Labour and Income* 5, 3 (March): 5–14.

Swidinsky, Robert (1980). Minimum Wages and Teenage Employment. *Canadian Journal of Economics* 13, 1: 158–71.

Swidinsky, Robert, and David Wilton (1982). Minimum Wages, Wage Inflation, and the Relative Wage Structure. *Journal of Human Resources* 17, 2: 163–77.

United States Department of Labor (2007). *Fact Sheet #14: Coverage Under the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA)*. US Department of Labor, Employment Standards Administration, Wage and Hour Division.

United States Department of Labor (2008). *Minimum Wage Laws in the States – July 24, 2008.* http://www.dol.gov/esa/minwage/america.htm, as of October 1, 2008.

United States Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics (2008). *Regional and State Employment and Unemployment*. http://www.bls.gov/lau/, as of April 18, 2008.

Vedder, Richard, and Lowell Gallaway (2002). The Minimum Wage and Poverty among Full-Time Workers. *Journal of Labor Research* 23, 1: 41–49.

Veldhuis, Niels, and Jason Clemens (2006). *Productivity, Prosperity, and Business Taxes*. Studies in Economic Prosperity No. 3. Fraser Institute.

Welch, Finis (1995). Comments. *Industrial and Labor Relations Review* 48: 842–49.

Wessels, Walter (1980). The Effects of Minimum Wages in the Presence of Fringe Benefits: An Expanded Model. *Economic Inquiry* 18: 293–313.

Wessels, W. (2005). Does the Minimum Wage Drive Teenagers Out of the Labor Force? *Journal of Labor Research* 26, 1: 169–76.

West, E.G., and M. McKee (1980). *Minimum Wages: The New Issues in Theory, Evidence, Policy and Politics*. Economic Council of Canada and Institute for Research on Public Policy.

Williams, Nicolas, and Jeffrey Mills (2001). The Minimum Wage and Teenage Employment: Evidence from Time Series. *Applied Economics* 33: 285–300.

Yuen, T. (2003). The Effect of Minimum Wages on Youth Employment in Canada: A Panel Study. *Journal of Human Resources* 38 (Summer): 647–72.

Government sources

Alberta (2008). *Alberta's Minimum Wage*. <http://employment.alberta.ca/ cps/rde/xchg/hre/hs.xsl/998.html>, as of April 3, 2008.

British Columbia (2008). *Minimum Wage Fact Sheet*. <http://www.labour.gov.bc.ca/esb/facshts/min-wage.htm>, as of March 26, 2008.

Manitoba (2008). *Fact Sheet: What is Minimum Wage?* <http://www.gov. mb.ca/labour/standards/doc,minimum-wage,factsheet.html>, as of April 3, 2008.

New Brunswick (2008). *Minimum Wage and Weekly Rest Period*. http://www.gnb.ca/0308/FactSheets/03c.pdf>, as of April 3, 2008.

Newfoundland & Labrador (2008). Minimum Wage Increases to \$8 Per Hour. News release (March 28). <http://www.releases.gov.nl.ca/ releases/2008/hrle/0328no2.htm>, as of April 3, 2008.

Nova Scotia (2008). *Minimum Wage*. <http://www.gov.ns.ca/lwd/ employmentrights/minimumwage.asp>, as of April 3, 2008.

Ontario (2008). *Minimum Wage*. <http://www.worksmartontario.gov. on.ca/scripts/default.asp?contentID=1-3-2&actionID=print>, as of April 3, 2008.

Prince Edward Island (2008). *Minimum Wage Order*. http://www.gov. pe.ca/cca/index.php3?number=49717>, as of April 3, 2008.

Quebec (2008). *Minimum Wage*. http://www.educaloi.qc.ca/en/loi/employees/88/, as of April 3, 2008.

Saskatchewan (2008). *Minimum Wage Increase Announced*. http://www.labour.gov.sk.ca/Default.aspx?DN=2a7ee6fc-36aa-4dcb-8d65-7d1d9d93eb20>, as of April 3, 2008..

About the authors

Keith Godin

Keith Godin is a Senior Policy Analyst in the Fiscal Studies Department at the Fraser Institute. He has published 14 major studies on a range of policy issues including labour regulation and performance, entrepreneurship, taxation, banking, and investment. Most recently, he authored or co-authored Canadian Provincial Investment Climate: 2008 Report (2008), Measuring Entrepreneurship: Conceptual Frameworks and Empirical Indicators (2008), Measuring Labour Markets in Canada and the United States: 2008 Report, Bank Lending and Entrepreneurial Finance: The Performance of Canadian Banks (2008), Measuring Business Creation in Canada and the United States (2007), Crowding Out Private Equity: Canadian Evidence (2007), and The *Economic Costs of Capital Gains Taxes* (2007). He has also written numerous shorter articles on fiscal policy and government failure, as well as commentaries in newspapers across the country including the National Post, Toronto Sun, Ottawa Citizen, Vancouver Sun, and Business in Vancouver. Mr. Godin holds a B.A. in economics and a Master's of public policy from Simon Fraser University.

Niels Veldhuis

Niels Veldhuis is the Director of Fiscal Studies and a Senior Economist at the Fraser Institute. Since joining the Institute in 2002, he has authored or co-authored four books and 36 comprehensive studies on a wide range of topics including taxation, productivity, entrepreneurship, labour markets, and government performance. He has written over 125 articles, which have appeared in over 50 newspapers including the *National Post*, *Globe and Mail*, and *Wall Street Journal*. Mr. Veldhuis appears regularly on radio and television programs across the country and has appeared before committees of both the House of Commons and the Senate as an expert witness. He has a Bachelor's degree in business administration, with joint majors in business and economics, and an M.A. in economics from Simon Fraser University.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the supporters of the Fraser Institute who generously made resources available to undertake this study. In particular, we would like to sincerely thank the Lotte & John Hecht Memorial Foundation for its generous support. We would also like to express our appreciation to David MacPherson, professor of economics at Florida State University; Jason Clemens; and Nadeem Esmail, Director of Health System Performance Studies and Manager of the Alberta Policy Research Centre at the Fraser Institute, for their valuable comments and suggestions.

Any errors, omissions, or mistakes remain the sole responsibility of the authors. As the authors have worked independently, the views and analysis expressed in this document remain those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the views of the supporters, trustees, or other staff at the Fraser Institute.

About this publication

Periodically, the Fraser Institute publishes timely and comprehensive studies of current issues in economics and public policy. This study is one such example belonging to a series of related publications.

Distribution

These publications are available from <http://www.fraserinstitute.org> in Portable Document Format (PDF) and can be read with Adobe Acrobat[®] or with Adobe Reader[®], which is available free of charge from Adobe Systems Inc. To download Adobe Reader, go to this link: <http://www.adobe.com/ products/acrobat/readstep2.html> with your browser. We encourage you to install the most recent version.

Ordering publications

For information about ordering the printed publications of the Fraser Institute, please contact the publications coordinator

- # e-mail: sales@fraserinstitute.org
- # telephone: 604.688.0221 ext. 580; or, toll-free, 1.800.665.3558 ext. 580
- *#* fax: 604.688.8539

Media

For media enquiries, please contact our Communications Department:

- *‰* 604.714.4582
- # e-mail: communications@fraserinstitute.org

Disclaimer

The authors of this publication have worked independently and opinions expressed by them are, therefore, their own, and do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the supporters, trustees, or other staff of the Fraser Institute. This publication in no way implies that the Fraser Institute, its trustees, or staff are in favour of, or oppose the passage of, any bill; or that they support or oppose any particular political party or candidate.

Copyright

Copyright © 2009 by the Fraser Institute. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced in any manner whatsoever without written permission except in the case of brief passages quoted in critical articles and reviews.

ISSNs

1715-7420 Studies in Labour Markets (Print)1715-7439 Studies in Labour Markets (Online)

Date of issue

January 2009

Editing and production

Kristin Fryer

Design

Lindsey Thomas Martin

Cover design

Bill Ray

Images for cover

- © David H. Lewis, iStockphoto.com ("Customer Service")
- © Brazil2, iStockphoto.com ("Baker")
- © fstop123, iStockphoto.com ("Grinding in Workshop")
- © mjl84, iStockphoto.com ("Painter")
- © Dan Cardiff, iStockphoto.com ("Painter")
- © Bruce Lonngren, Daaronj, iStockphoto.com ("Teacher and students")

Supporting the Fraser Institute

To learn how to support the Fraser Institute, please contact

- Development Department, Fraser Institute
 Fourth Floor, 1770 Burrard Street
 Vancouver, British Columbia, V6J 3G7 Canada
- % telephone, toll-free: 1.800.665.3558 ext. 586
- # e-mail: development@fraserinstitute.org.

About the Fraser Institute

Our vision is a free and prosperous world where individuals benefit from greater choice, competitive markets, and personal responsibility. Our mission is to measure, study, and communicate the impact of competitive markets and government interventions on the welfare of individuals.

Founded in 1974, we are an independent research and educational organization with locations throughout North America and international partners in over 70 countries. Our work is financed by tax-deductible contributions from thousands of individuals, organizations, and foundations. In order to protect its independence, the Institute does not accept grants from government or contracts for research.

菲沙研究所的願景乃一自由而昌盛的世界,當中每個人得以從更豐富的 選擇、具競爭性的市場及自我承擔責任而獲益。我們的使命在於量度、 研究並使人知悉競爭市場及政府干預對個人福祉的影響。

Nous envisageons un monde libre et prospère, où chaque personne bénéficie d'un plus grand choix, de marchés concurrentiels et de responsabilités individuelles. Notre mission consiste à mesurer, à étudier et à communiquer l'effet des marchés concurrentiels et des interventions gouvernementales sur le bien-être des individus.

تتمثل رؤيتنا في وجود عالم حر ومزدهر يستفيد فيه الأفراد من القدرة على الاختيار بشكل أكبر، والأسواق التنافسية، والمسؤولية الشخصية. أما رسالتنا فهي قياس، ودراسة، وتوصيل تأثير الأسواق التنافسية والتدخلات الحكومية المتعلقة بالرفاه الاجتماعي للأفراد.

Nuestra visión es un mundo libre y próspero donde los individuos se beneficien de una mayor oferta, la competencia en los mercados y la responsabilidad individual. Nuestra misión es medir, estudiar y comunicar el impacto de la competencia en los mercados y la intervención gubernamental en el bienestar de los individuos.

Editorial Advisory Board

Prof. Armen Alchian	Prof. James Gwartney
Prof. Terry Anderson	Prof. H.G. Johnson*
Prof. Robert Barro	Prof. Ronald W. Jones
Prof. Michael Bliss	Dr. Jerry Jordan
Prof. James M. Buchanan†	Prof. David Laidler**
Prof. Jean-Pierre Centi	Prof. Richard G. Lipsey**
Prof. Thomas J. Courchene**	Prof. Ross McKitrick
Prof. John Chant	Prof. Michael Parkin
Prof. Bev Dahlby	Prof. F.G. Pennance*
Prof. Erwin Diewert	Prof. Friedrich Schneider
Prof. Stephen Easton	Prof. L.B. Smith
Prof. J.C. Herbert Emery	Prof. George Stigler*†
Prof. Jack L. Granatstein	Mr. Vito Tanzi
Prof. Herbert G. Grubel	Sir Alan Walters
Prof. Friedrich A. Hayek*†	Prof. Edwin G. West*

* deceased; ** withdrawn; ⁺ Nobel Laureate